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it is the result of forces 
WORKING TOGETHER.”

– JC Penney

STRONGER TOGETHER

“GROWTH is never  
by mere chance;

As we work toward achieving our ten-year vision, the sentiment 
below accurately reflects the significance not only of what we’ve 
accomplished over the past year, but the very essence of how we 
will continue to lead the transformation of the Atlantic credit union 
system to achieve greater growth, more efficiencies, and improved 
value for credit unions, and, most importantly, their members. 

Our combined strength and willingness to work together provide 
the rare opportunity to evolve in such a way as to ensure we 
remain relevant, sustainable, and adaptable – critical components 
to the growth and, ultimately, the success of our system. Our 
commitment and resolve to helping our system thrive does 
not waver.

What began as a vision, a path to our future, is becoming clearer 
as we continue to make strides toward achieving the kind of 
transformational change required to ensure a strong and lasting 
future for the Atlantic credit union system.
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CHAIR’S MESSAGE

Atlantic Central also prepared for the 
smooth transition from federal to provincial 
regulation in 2016, which moved regulatory 
oversight of your Central from the Office of 
the Superintendent of Financial Institutions 
to the province of Nova Scotia, effective 
January 15, 2017. 

Atlantic Central remains deeply committed 
to the principles of collaboration, openness, 
and transparency as we lead the transforma-
tional changes necessary to keep pace with the 
demands of our highly competitive industry. In 
June, for the first time in our history, the Boards 
of Atlantic Central and League Savings invited 
credit union CEOs and Chairs to participate in 
our annual joint planning session. On behalf of 
the Board, I would like to thank the 12 credit 
union CEOs and Chairs who joined us for their 
participation and for providing the valuable 
insight and feedback that helped inform our 
strategic direction. One important focus of this 
year’s planning session was identifying how 
delivering an exceptional member experience 
drives our growth strategy. This discussion 
was brought forward to the Fall Conference 
and greatly influenced the conversations over 
the course of the meetings and resulted in 
participants taking actionable ideas back to 

L
ooking back over the past year provides 
the opportunity to reflect on the initia-
tives led by Atlantic Central that are 
providing benefits for the entire Atlantic 
credit union system. The high calibre of 

work, the results achieved, and the continued 
momentum toward transformational system 
change was impressive – and it was possible 
because we are a system committed to working 
together. 

In 2016, we saw the successful imple-
mentation of year three of Atlantic Central’s 
and League Savings and Mortgage’s (League 
Savings) joint three-year strategic plan. Also 
of significance is the continued work on 
the Linked Hub, the implementation of the 
Compelling Selling Proposition strategy that 
differentiates credit unions in the marketplace, 
and the strengthening of strategic partnerships 
that provide real results for credit unions and 
their members. Of particular importance is the 
continued alignment of Atlantic Central’s stra-
tegic initiatives with League Data. Together with 
League Savings, our three organizations work 
to provide quicker access to the products and 
services credit union members want and need 
at competitive prices – a key enabler of credit 
union growth.
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The work of Atlantic Central over the past 
year and the results we’ve delivered for the 
benefit of the Atlantic credit union system 
have been, by many standards, remarkable. The 
Atlantic system is considered small when com-
pared to our counterparts across the country, 
but our solidarity as a region has allowed us to 
surpass what other credit union systems nation-
ally and internationally are only beginning to 
consider. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would 
like to thank the management and staff of 
Atlantic Central for their tremendous work in 
2016. The time, effort, and dedication required 
by all to produce top-quality results for the 
benefit of the Atlantic credit union system 
serve as a reminder that we can lead the trans-
formational change required to help drive the 
growth of credit unions, their members, and 
their communities while remaining true to our 
co-operative roots.

Pat Duffield
Chair
Atlantic Central Board of Directors

their organizations for implementation. This 
was a true example of how the power of work-
ing together in the spirit of co-operation can 
accomplish more than what we could do as 
individual organizations. 

Atlantic Central continued to represent the 
Atlantic credit union system at the national 
level throughout 2016 to ensure our region’s 
perspective was provided on initiatives affecting 
the Canadian credit union system. As Chair 
of the Board, I attended two meetings of the 
Centrals Chairs’ and CEOs’ group. These 
meetings are important opportunities for the 
centrals to share strategies and initiatives, and 
to seek new ways to collaborate. The meetings 
continue to support our long-term vision for 
the national system and are an opportunity to 
build on important relationships among cen-
trals. I also attended the National Credit Union 
Conference hosted by the Canadian Credit 
Union Association in Saskatoon. The confer-
ence was focused on national system change 
and I was very pleased to see our efforts here in 
Atlantic Canada receive so much positive atten-
tion. During the closing ceremonies, it was an 
honour to see Dave MacLean, our former Chair, 
posthumously inducted into the Credit Union 
Hall of Fame. 



“We are on the 
verge of effecting 

real change that will 
enable long-term success 

for credit unions.”

Michael Leonard 
President and CEO
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H
ow long does it take to realize a vision? 
In 2013, we launched our ten-year 
vision for the Atlantic credit union 
system, calling for transformational 
change, leveraging the best of what 

we currently do with the changes we know are 
needed to compete for business in your com-
munities and meet the changing needs of your 
members. Looking back at the last three years 
of work, we see how our vision has grown and 
become clearer. With several key initiatives 
underway nationally, our vision is spreading 
beyond Atlantic Canada, and with the signifi-
cant progress made on transformational change 
here in our region, we are on the verge of 
effecting real change that will enable long-term 
success for credit unions.

This was the third year of our three-year stra-
tegic plan. Our strategic framework, a balanced 
approach that is focused on system change, 
financial accountability, and a focus on our 
people, has served us well since 2013; however, 
it was time to consider what we need to guide 
us through the next phase of the journey to our 
vision. For the first time, credit unions from 
across the region joined the Boards of Atlantic 
Central and League Savings and Mortgage 
(League Savings) and senior management at our 

joint strategic planning session in June to look 
at our current direction and consider if changes 
were required. The message was clear: you said 
we are on the right path and to keep moving 
forward. This energized our organization and 
our people. 

In 2016, we moved from concept to reality. It 
was expected, and reasonable, that when con-
sidering such significant change, the first phase 
of work would largely be dedicated to research, 
planning, and design, and during that period 
it’s sometimes difficult to see visible progress. 
However, we believe strongly that transform-
ational change of this magnitude requires 
extensive preparation and due diligence, and we 
commit that we will continue to ensure that our 
work on your behalf is done with industry-lead-
ing expertise and robust practice management 
to ensure the highest quality outcomes for your 
consideration. 

So, what did we accomplish in 2016? Given 
the challenges we all acknowledge we have in 
raising the awareness and understanding of 
who credit unions are and what you do, we 
invested significant effort in the implementation 
of the Compelling Selling Proposition (CSP). 
We completed the integration of the CSP into 
the Regional Marketing Program as well as the 
product release model. We also saw good prog-
ress in bringing the CSP to life within credit 
unions and Atlantic Central. Further develop-
ment and implementation of the CSP will 
continue to be one of our major priorities for 
the next several years. Changing members’ and 
potential members’ perception of credit unions 

CEO’S MESSAGE
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in our four provinces is not a quick fix, but we 
firmly believe that we are on the right track. 

While we were redefining how we talk about 
credit unions, we also completed significant 
work around structural change both regionally 
and nationally. After several years of sharing our 
vision, there is now widespread acceptance that 
significant structural change is required in the 
organizations that support credit unions, and 
Atlantic Central is involved in multiple discus-
sions on your behalf. Consolidation of Canada’s 
credit union system partners will lead to signifi-
cant gains in both efficiency and innovation as 
we consolidate our investments in new products 
and services to help you serve your members 
better. Nowhere is this progress more visible 
than in the area of payments. The national CEO 
Payments Strategy Committee has delivered 
value to credit unions in the areas of ATM, 
switching, and product development. However, 
the foundation for the future of payments res-
ides in the formation of a national payments 
entity that is designed to serve Canada’s credit 
unions. Like our own regional vision work, the 
development of the payments strategy required 
several years of research, study, and planning. In 
2016, we moved from planning to implementa-
tion. Atlantic Central invested significant time 
and energy in this area on your behalf and these 
changes should better position the Atlantic 
credit union system for success in the future. 
This work will be a major priority again in 2017. 

Looking forward to 2017 and beyond, we are 
on the cusp of a number of major achievements. 
Expect to see key changes in the areas of credit 
cards, branch design, and marketing. However, 
there is one new initiative that seems to be 
gaining momentum that we are particularly 
excited about.

For many years, credit unions have been 
searching for the right balance between sales and 
service. In 2016, this issue appeared to gain much 
higher visibility in our system, with an almost 
universal call for change. At the same time, the 
development of our CSP clearly shows that our 
differentiator, based on trust and integrity, is 
critical to delivering an exceptional member-fo-
cused experience. Changing our view to a more 

member-centric one requires a significant change 
in our culture and must be adopted consistently 
by credit unions and their supporting organiz-
ations. In October, we held a facilitated session 
with all Atlantic credit unions on the topic of 
exceptional member experience. Your feedback 
was almost universally positive and indicated 
a strong appreciation for being able to engage 
with your peers in a deeper, more collaborative 
way. We expect to hold a similar session again 
in 2017 to work further with you in this import-
ant area. In December, we also held an all-staff 
session to introduce the concept of exceptional 
member experience to Atlantic Central and 
League Savings staff. As we better understand 
what exceptional member experience looks like, 
it will impact everything Atlantic Central and 
League Savings do, from the products we deliver, 
the policies and procedures we develop, to the 
messaging we create to support our CSP and the 
Regional Marketing Program. Given the broad 
impact of this work, it may be the most import-
ant initiative we have on our plate for 2017. 

In the end, everything we do is designed to 
support the profitable growth of the Atlantic 
credit union system. We know that you are 
leaders in your communities and our goal is to 
provide you with the very best research, strat-
egy, products, and pricing that we can. 

I want to take this opportunity to thank the 
Board of Directors for their direction and sup-
port throughout the year and our employees for 
their dedication and belief in what we are doing. 
Their passion for serving credit unions and their 
members is inspiring.

To our shareholders and member credit 
unions, we hope that you are as pleased with 
2016 as we are, and we look forward to work-
ing with you in 2017 to improve the lives of 
your members and increase prosperity in your 
communities. 

Michael Leonard 
President and CEO
Atlantic Central
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2016 HIGHLIGHTS

PRODUCT SOLUTIONS

Liaison Working Group
Card Payment Strategy
The project is closely aligned with the activities 
that are taking place through the national CEO 
Payments Strategy Committee, and, because of 
this, the Regional Card Strategy Working Group 
has been awaiting the outcome of the national 
strategy. In November, the national commit-
tee presented a recommendation to proceed 
with Collabria as the system-wide credit card 
services provider, with contract negotiations 
beginning in December and concluding the end 
of Q1, 2017. 

New Product and Service Offerings
A key priority of our three-year strategic plan 
is to acquire products and services that will 
improve credit union competitiveness and 
speed to market. Through collaboration with 
strategic partners, we were able to make a 
number of products and services available to 
Atlantic credit unions in 2016.

Interac Flash®
Atlantic Central, League Data, and Everlink 
worked closely together on the implementation 
of this product, and, in January 2016, the efforts 
of this initiative culminated in the release of 
Interac Flash to credit unions in the region. The 
ongoing rollout of Interac Flash will take place 
through the renewal of all naturally expiring 
cards until 2018. To date, there have been over 
3.3 million Flash transactions, all backed by 
Interac’s Zero Liability policy. 
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Interac Online®
Through the collaborative efforts of Atlantic 
Central and League Data, the system was 
able to take advantage of a group buy for this 
product. Single purchase credit unions paid 
approximately $12,000 for the Interac Online 
Payments product implementation, while 
the group buy resulted in a purchase price of 
$5,582 per credit union, a savings of 53 per 
cent per credit union. Thirty-two credit unions 
took part in this offer and have implemented 
Interac Online. 

90 Day No Pay
Atlantic Central developed and implemented 
this loan deferral feature for credit unions. The 
product was launched in December after a 
successful pilot with Valley Credit Union and 
Sydney Credit Union. In 2016, there were 13 
loans booked by existing members at 7 different 
credit unions. 

MARKETING

In 2016, we started a new agency partnership 
with NATIONAL Public Relations, which 
included the development and execution of a 
new three-year strategy designed to support the 
Compelling Selling Proposition.

We now combine owned, earned, and paid 
media strategies in everything we do.
• 23 owned stories placed on honestmoney.ca; 

over 14,000 unique visits to this site; over 
33,000 page views in total (Aug 1 – Dec 31)

• 5 earned stories totaling $40,400 in value
• 3 paid campaigns (RRSP, Home Financing, 

and Financial Advice)

credit unions voted in favour of the 2017 Regional Marketing Program93%

The Member First: Engaging our Members ses-
sion was developed and executed. The session is 
designed to support credit union staff with the 
required culture shift as we move to our new 
audience-centric strategy.
• 63 participants representing 35 credit unions 

and Atlantic Central
• 25 responses to session evaluation survey 

with a 95 per cent rating of Excellent 
or Good

Won two Achievement in Marketing Excellence 
awards at the 2016 Marketing Association for 
Credit Unions Conference.
• Financial Education: for the  

First-Timers Guides
• New Product Launch: together with Product 

Release for the Mobile Strategy

Home Financing Campaign 2016 
• First campaign to run the owned, earned, 

and paid media approach
• Total activity was down 1.5 per cent from 

2015 (2016 = $126,944,143;  
2015 = 128,900,149)

• New member attraction increased  
55 per cent from 2015
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96%
93%

Employees who 
understand our strategic 
priorities and the reasons 
for the transformational 
change that is needed in 
our credit union system

Employees who 
recommend AC and LSM 
as a good place to work

SPECIAL RESERVE

The Special Reserve was established to support 
transformational change in the Atlantic credit 
union system. To date, over $6 million has been 
contributed to the Special Reserve. 

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING EXPENSES

Since the formation of Atlantic Central in 
2010, significant work has been done to 
decrease operating costs. The increase in 
operating expenses during 2016 was a result of 
vacant positions being filled and the Regional 
Marketing Program using its total funds in 2016 
vs. 2015. Planned spending in 2015 was deferred 
in order to complete the Compelling Selling 
Proposition project.

2016 EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT SURVEY

Employee engagement is one of our six strategic 
priorities; we believe it is critical to delivering 
on our business strategies and objectives. The 
survey has been conducted since 2014 and the 
results provide the opportunity to focus on key 
areas for improvement and develop appropriate 
action plans.
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During 2016, Atlantic Central Syndication 
portfolio grew over 20 per cent.
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67,162
Unpaid time-off hours volunteered

CO-OPERATIVE  
SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

CREDIT UNIONS PUT PEOPLE BEFORE PROFITS

Through our Co-operative Social Responsibility 
(CSR) Committee of the Board, and on behalf 
of our member credit unions, Atlantic Central 
provides awards, charitable giving, and other 
forms of support in the areas of education, 
health care, community and social well-being, 
environment, arts and culture, and co-operative 
development. It’s all part of our commitment to 
pursuing socially and environmentally focused 
business practices, and it’s all measured against 
the triple bottom-line approach with benefits 
for people, planet, and profit.

The results of the 2015 Community 
Involvement Survey* (latest year available) show 
Atlantic credit unions contributed:
• $2,177,737 in charitable donations
• 8,405 employee hours volunteered during 

working hours
• 67,162 employee hours volunteered during 

unpaid time-off

*84% of Atlantic credit unions submitted responses
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$35,000Provided to Atlantic Canada’s co-operative councils

COADY AWARD

Atlantic Central’s CSR Committee oversees 
the nomination and selection process for the 
Coady Award, presented annually to honour 
the member credit union or caisse populaire 
that best exemplifies leadership, support, and 
involvement in its community. The award is 
named after Dr. Moses Coady, a pioneer and 
founder in the national co-operative movement, 
who encouraged his followers to strive for a 
meaningful economic democracy.

LaHave River Credit Union was the recipient 
of the 2015 Coady Award. Management and 
staff invest heavily in educating youth in their 
community through the provision of numerous 
financial literacy initiatives designed to be fun 
and interactive while providing youth with a 
good foundation for understanding the import-
ance of their financial well-being. LaHave River 
makes environmental sustainability a priority 
for the benefit of its members and the com-
munity. Staff volunteer hours of their personal 
time to support community initiatives, and 
the credit union provides eco-loans to make 
it more affordable for consumers to make sus-
tainable choices. LaHave River is recognized for 
supporting local businesses, events, and organ-
izations, and, in 2015, the credit union received 
the prestigious Prime Minister’s Volunteer 
Award for small business in Atlantic Canada.

REGIONAL CHARITABLE GIVING 
AND SPONSORSHIPS

Atlantic Credit Union Bursary Program
Atlantic Central administers a bursary program 
throughout the region on behalf of Atlantic 
credit unions. In 2016, a total of $25,000 was 
disbursed through the College of the North 
Atlantic (NL), Holland College (PE), New 
Brunswick Community College, and Nova 
Scotia Community College. 

School Breakfast Programs
Atlantic Central is a proud supporter of school 
breakfast programs. In 2016, we provided 
financial support to programs in Newfoundland 
and Labrador, Nova Scotia, and Prince Edward 
Island in the amount of $15,000 ($5,000 each). 

Young Adults with Cancer Canada (YACC) 
This non-profit organization focuses on edu-
cating and providing customized support 
programs and opportunities to young adults 
diagnosed with cancer. In 2016, Atlantic Central 
provided $8,000 to YACC. In addition, Shave 
for the Brave events, the organization’s largest 
fundraiser, were held in credit unions across 
the region for the third consecutive year. 
Participating credit unions in 2016 included 
Eagle River Credit Union (NL), New Ross 
Credit Union (NS), Public Service Credit 
Union (NL), and Tignish Credit Union (PE).
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Provided to Atlantic Canada’s co-operative councils

EACH ONE TEACH ONE

Atlantic Central partnered with the Canadian 
Credit Union Association (CCUA) and Vancity 
to offer this program for employees to deliver 
basic financial literacy workshops in their com-
munities. The goal is to empower individuals 
to make the right financial decisions for them-
selves and their families. 

Support for the program has been very posi-
tive. A three-day workshop was held in October 
with over 30 credit union staff participating and 
becoming certified coaches. Additional sessions 
will be offered in April 2017. 

Atlantic Central will continue to work with 
CCUA and Vancity in providing support 
to participating credit unions on this great 
co-operative community initiative.

CO-OPERATIVE PARTNER SUPPORT

Co-operative councils are committed to increas-
ing awareness of the benefits of co-operative 
enterprise through education, marketing, 
government advocacy, and program develop-
ment to help ensure the success and growth of 
co-operative organizations. In 2016, Atlantic 
Central provided a total of $35,000 to provincial 
co-operative councils in all four Atlantic prov-
inces. The councils are important economic 
drivers in our communities; by supporting them 
we are helping to strengthen our local econ-
omies and improve the lives of the people living 
in our region. 

Saint Mary’s Co-operative Management 
Education Co-operative (CMEC) Program
CMEC supports the advancement of 
co-operative management education in 
partnership with Saint Mary’s University. 
More than 60 co-operatives and credit union 
organizations from seven countries contribute 
expertise, advice, and funding that help deliver 
the co-operative management education pro-
grams. Atlantic Central provided support in the 
amount of $10,000 to this program in 2016.

Co-operative Housing Federation of Canada (CHF)
CHF Canada is the national voice of the 
Canadian co-operative housing movement. 
More than 1,000 members and associates are 
closely linked with housing co-operatives. The 
organization exists to unite, represent, and serve 
the co-op housing community across Canada. 
In 2016, Atlantic Central provided more than 
$5,000 of support to CHF Canada.

Co-operative Development Foundation (CDF)
Since 1947, the CDF has been raising funds 
in support of co-operative and credit union 
development programming with the aim to 
reduce global poverty. Atlantic Central is a 
strong supporter of this organization and pro-
vided funding in the amount of $20,000 in 2016.

Coady International Institute
Located at St. Francis Xavier University, the 
Coady International Institute has been educat-
ing leaders from around the world since 1959. 
Using a community-based approach, the Coady 
Institute equips citizen leaders to address global 
challenges and opportunities. Atlantic Central 
continued its support of the Coady Institute 
in 2016 by providing funds in the amount of 
$5,000 to the Coady Celebrates Gala.

Other
In 2016, Atlantic Central and League Savings 
and Mortgage donated funds in the amount of 
$19,000 (total) to the following:
• Atlantic Floods Relief (through the Canadian 

Red Cross)
• Cape Breton Regional Municipality Flood 

Relief
• Alberta Wildfires Relief (through the 

Canadian Red Cross)
• Worldwide Foundation for Credit Unions
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OUR MANAGEMENT TEAM 

L–R: Paul Paruch, Mike Leonard, Kim Walker, 
Sharon Arnold, Joseph Malek



“I am truly amazed by how 
much we accomplished in 2016! 

Our achievements are a testament to 
the hard work and commitment of our 

employees and our increased collaboration 
with credit unions and League Data.”

Sharon Arnold
Senior Vice-President,  

Finance and Chief Risk Officer

“Atlantic Central undertook 
several major initiatives for the 

benefit of the Atlantic credit union 
system in 2016. The delivery  

of top-quality results to our member 
credit unions required the combined efforts of 

management, staff and system partners working 
toward the common goal of increasing credit 

union competitiveness, system growth and 
improved efficiencies. “

Kim Walker, Vice-President, 
Treasury and Credit Services

“Our team’s achievements 
this year have been 

tremendous! From delivering 
new products to credit unions, 

to developing valuable tools and 
materials designed to improve the member 
experience, to integrating the CSP into the 

Regional Marketing Program, our focus remains 
on increasing credit union awareness and 

growth in the Atlantic region.”

Paul Paruch, Vice-President, 
Marketing and Business 

Solutions

“Our goal is to help Atlantic 
credit unions grow. This requires 
that we all sharpen our focus on 

delivering an exceptional member 
experience. Working in partnership, 

the services our team provides range from 
consulting on member analytics to co-designing 
a Linked Hub. This work is intended to support 

credit unions to better understand and 
meet their members’ needs.”

Joseph Malek, Vice-President, 
Strategic Change

“In 2016 we moved from 
concept to reality. We knew 

transformational change of this 
magnitude would require extensive 

preparation and due diligence and we 
remain committed to ensuring the work we do 

on behalf of credit unions is done with industry-
leading expertise to ensure the highest 
quality outcome for the Atlantic credit 

union system.”

Mike Leonard, 
President and CEO
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RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk management is one of the most important 
responsibilities of Atlantic Central (Central). 
Central’s risk management strategies and 
policies are governed by the principle of opti-
mizing risk for the protection and creation of 
shareholder value, and are designed to ensure 
that the company’s risk-taking is consistent 
with its business objectives and risk tolerance. 
Optimizing risk means striking a balance 
between risk and reward, ensuring that Central’s 
risk-taking is consistent with its Risk Appetite 
Framework. The Risk Appetite Framework 
reflects the aggregate level and type of risks 
that the company is willing to accept in order to 
achieve its business objectives.

Central’s Risk Appetite Framework is based 
on the following fundamental principles: 
• Board policies establish the basis for accept-

able risk-taking; 
• All corporate risk-taking must align with our 

business strategy, values, and code of ethics

MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS

• When engaging in risk-taking activities we 
must: 

• ensure risks are understood and 
managed 

• seek appropriate reward for risk taken 
where potential benefits outweigh 
potential risks

• protect the reputation of the credit 
union system 

• not expose the company to a single 
loss or reputational event that could 
threaten the company’s viability

Central uses an enterprise-wide approach to 
identify, measure, monitor, and manage risk. 
Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with 
the Board of Directors, which approves the 
Risk Appetite Statement and risk management 
policies, delegates limits, and regularly reviews 
management’s risk assessments and compliance 
with approved policies. The Risk Committee 
of the Board of Directors is responsible for 
ensuring that management has developed 
and maintained an effective Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework for evaluating the 
business strategies being used for allocation of 
human, capital, and other resources. 
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The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for 
the oversight of risk management across the 
organization and reports quarterly to the Risk 
Committee and the Board. The Management 
Finance Committee (MFC) is responsible for 
the review and evaluation of financial risks and 
performance. The MFC reviews financial risk 
management policies, recommends changes 
to policies and procedures as appropriate, and 
monitors compliance with financial policies. The 
Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO) 
is responsible for ensuring the effective and pru-
dent management of Central’s financial assets 
and liabilities. ALCO achieves this by develop-
ing and implementing financial strategies and 
related processes consistent with the short- and 
long-term goals set by the Board of Directors.

Qualified professionals throughout Central 
manage these risks through comprehensive 
and integrated control processes and models, 
including regular review and assessment of 
risk measurement and reporting processes. 
The various processes within Central’s Risk 
Management Framework are designed to ensure 
that risks in the various business activities are 
properly identified, measured, assessed, and 
controlled. Risk management practices include 
ongoing consideration of external influences 
and emerging risks, including current and 
forecasted economic and market conditions. 
Stress testing is also an important tool used 
by management in making business and risk 
management decisions.

Internal Audit reports independently to the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on 
the effectiveness of the risk management poli-
cies and the extent to which internal controls 
are in place and operating effectively.

Risks are summarized into the following 
categories: capital adequacy, governance, 
credit, legal and regulatory, liquidity, market, 
operational, and strategic. Credit, liquidity, and 
market risk are described in the notes to the 
2016 annual financial statements. A description 
of the remaining risks follows. 

Capital Adequacy Risk
Capital adequacy risk is the risk of financial loss 
or regulatory intervention due to the failure 
of Central to maintain the necessary capital to 
meet regulatory requirements and/or support 
its business plans. 

Atlantic Central has established capital 
management policies that govern the quantity 
and quality of capital the company will main-
tain. In addition, a capital plan is prepared 
annually that forecasts the amount of capital 
required and the sources that will be used to 
fund those requirements. The capital policies 
and plans are reviewed and approved annually 
by the Board of Directors.

Management regularly monitors the com-
pany’s capital position and reports to the Board 
of Directors on a quarterly basis.

Governance Risk
Governance risk is the risk of financial and/
or reputational impairment caused by lack of 
effectiveness of the Board of Directors and sen-
ior management.

Governance risk is mitigated through quali-
fication criteria, Director orientation, ongoing 
development and training, regular meetings, 
annual strategic planning process, and annual 
evaluation process.

Legal and Regulatory Risk
Legal and regulatory risk is the risk of loss due 
to the failure to adhere to legal and regulatory 
standards. 

Prior to January 15, 2017, Central was 
governed jointly by the Co-operative Credit 
Associations Act (Canada) and the Credit Union 
Act (Nova Scotia), and regulated federally by 
the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions and provincially by the Nova 
Scotia Superintendent of Credit Unions. On 
January 15, 2017, federal oversight of Central 
ceased. Atlantic Central also complies with New 
Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, and 
Prince Edward Island legislation and regulation 
where applicable to its operations in those 
respective provinces. 
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Central maintains a legislative and policy 
compliance management system in which all 
existing and emerging legislative and policy 
requirements are regularly reviewed and 
reported on. New policies and procedures are 
developed to address legislative requirements as 
appropriate.

The Board of Directors receives a quarterly 
compliance report in which any deficiencies and 
corresponding action plans are identified.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect 
loss resulting from people, inadequate or failed 
internal processes and systems, or from external 
events.

While operational risk can never be fully 
eliminated, Central manages this type of risk 
through implementation of a comprehensive set 
of procedures and policies. Elements include:
• Developing and maintaining a compre-

hensive system of internal controls that 
encompasses segregation of functional activ-
ities, managerial reporting, and delegation of 
authority;

• Striving to maintain industry best practices 
in the area of operational risk management 
through continued monitoring and evalua-
tion of our practices;

• Selecting and training highly-qualified staff, 
supported by policies that provide for skills 
upgrading, clear authorization levels, and 
adherence to an employee code of conduct; 
and

• Maintaining adequate insurance to reduce 
the impact of any potential losses, supported 
by a detailed business continuity plan.

Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk of loss due to failure 
to create, implement, and monitor an effective 
strategic plan, including procedures for the 
development and review of new business initia-
tives and changing business circumstances.

Strategic priorities for the next three years 
are established during the annual Board and 
management planning session. Management 
then develops the annual business plan for 
approval by the Board. Management reports to 
the Board of Directors on the progress toward 
achieving the annual business plan at each 
regular Board meeting. Credit unions are also 
provided with regular progress reports.
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CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management has the responsibility of preparing the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements and ensuring that all infor-

mation in the annual report is consistent with the consolidated 

financial statements. This responsibility includes selecting appro-

priate accounting principles and making objective judgments and 

estimates in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards.

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of 

the consolidated financial statements, management designs and 

maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal 

controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 

authorized, assets safeguarded and proper records maintained. The 

Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee to review the 

annual financial statements with management and auditors before 

final approval by the Board. 

Both the federal and provincial regulators of financial institutions 

may conduct examinations and make such enquiries into the affairs 

of Atlantic Central and its subsidiary as they deem necessary to 

ensure the safety of depositors and members of Atlantic Central 

and to ensure that Atlantic Central is in sound financial condition. 

Their findings are reported directly to management. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent auditors, have 

examined the consolidated financial statements of Atlantic Central 

in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing stan-

dards and have expressed their opinion in the following report to 

members.

Michael Leonard

President and CEO 

Sharon Arnold, CPA, CA

Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Risk Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Atlantic Central

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial state-

ments of Atlantic Central and its subsidiary, which comprise the 

consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2016, and the con-

solidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes 

in members’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the 

related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the  
consolidated financial statements
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presenta-

tion of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material mis-

statement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 

fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-

stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of Atlantic Central and 

its subsidiary as at December 31, 2016, and their financial perform-

ance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants,

Licensed Public Accountants

February 22, 2017

Halifax, Canada



ATLANTIC CENTRAL ANNUAL REPORT 2016 [ 19 ]

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
December 31 (Cdn Dollars)

2016 2015

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,048,388 $ 36,585,573
Investments (note 6)  663,813,886  661,393,920
Loans and mortgages (note 7)  485,142,021  443,626,458
Accrued interest  4,439,224  4,249,181
Income tax receivable –  385,656
Fixed assets (note 9)  2,335,626  2,411,334
Deferred tax assets (note 13)  1,038,633  888,568
Securitization assets (note 8)  11,995,356  2,411,661
Other assets  4,035,225  3,618,572

$ 1,203,848,359 $ 1,155,570,923
Liabilities
Deposits (note 17) $ 950,931,609 $ 995,637,711
Accrued interest  3,004,734  3,762,106
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  10,446,524  8,600,296
Mortgage backed securities (note 8)  134,552,135  49,038,266
Capital tax payable  271,170  44,100
Income tax payable  255,346  299,584
Subordinated debentures (note 19) –  6,381,000

 1,099,461,518  1,063,763,063
Members’ equity
Capital stock (note 10)  65,578,155  41,649,352
Contributed surplus  6,018,056  6,018,056
Special reserve (note 10)  4,952,504  3,559,113
Retained earnings  25,520,253  23,973,949
Accumulated other comprehensive income  2,317,873  2,620,650

 104,386,841  77,821,120
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary (note 21) –  13,986,740

 104,386,841  91,807,860
$ 1,203,848,359 $ 1,155,570,923

Commitments and contractual obligations (note 12)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Approved:

Michael Leonard

President and CEO 

On Behalf of the Board:

Pat Duffield

Chair

Willy Robinson

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
Year Ended December 31 (Cdn Dollars)

2016 2015

Financial income
Interest on investments $ 10,354,159 $ 12,044,001
Interest on loans and mortgages  16,980,979  17,079,137

 27,335,138  29,123,138
Financial expense  11,814,363  13,403,638
Gross financial margin  15,520,775  15,719,500
Provision for loan losses (recovery)  742,733  (44,973)
Net financial margin  14,778,042  15,764,473
Other financial income  299,429  325,338
Net financial income  15,077,471  16,089,811
Non-interest income (note 20)  10,920,127  10,007,730

 25,997,598  26,097,541

Operating expenses
Salaries and staff related  10,359,002  9,915,254
Office expense  2,424,657  2,419,297
Marketing and business development  1,106,073  811,508
Democracy  1,425,719  1,512,600
Professional Fees  656,693  510,788
Other expenses (note 9)  798,470  862,778

 16,770,614  16,032,225
Operating income  9,226,984  10,065,316
Special Projects (note 23)  856,609  699,199
Distributions  2,312,215  3,252,050
Income before taxes  6,058,160  6,114,067
Capital tax (note 13)  575,670  270,000
Income taxes (note 13)  1,637,461  1,670,251
Net income $ 3,845,029 $ 4,173,816

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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2016 2015

Net income $ 3,845,029 $ 4,173,816

Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to income:
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale investments:

Net unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale investments  (122,965)  636,613
Reclassification of net realized losses (gains) to net income  (287,689)  (1,335,123)

Income tax expense: (note 13)
On unrealized losses (gains) on available for sale investments  21,648  (170,669)
On reclassification of net realized gains (losses) to net income  86,229  364,608

Other comprehensive income  (302,777)  (504,571)
Comprehensive income $ 3,542,252 $ 3,669,245

Net income attributable to:
Non-controlling interest – Preferred shareholders of subsidary  90,914  367,851
Shareholders  3,754,115  3,805,965

$ 3,845,029 $ 4,173,816

Comprehensive income attributable to:
Non-controlling interest – Preferred shareholders of subsidary  90,914  367,851
Shareholders  3,451,338  3,301,394

$ 3,542,252 $ 3,669,245

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31 (Cdn Dollars)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Year Ended 
December 31, 2016  
(Cdn Dollars)

Capital Stock 
(note 10)

Contributed 
Surplus

Special 
Reserve  

(note 10)
Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other  

Comprehen-
sive Income

Total 
Members 

Equity

Non-
controlling 

Interest
Total  

Equity
Balance at beginning 
 of year $ 41,649,352 $ 6,018,056 $ 3,559,113 $ 23,973,949 $ 2,620,650 $ 77,821,120  13,986,740  91,807,860 
Net income – – –  3,754,115 –  3,754,115  90,914  3,845,029 
Other comprehensive 
 income (loss) net of tax – – – –  (302,777)  (302,777) –  (302,777)
Comprehensive income – – –  3,754,115  (302,777)  3,451,338  90,914  3,542,252 
Transfer to special 
 reserve – –  2,250,000  (2,250,000) – – – –
Transfer from special 
 reserve – –  (856,609)  856,609 – – – –
Issued  19,991,556 – – – –  19,991,556  19,991,556 
Redeemed  (42,043) – –  (5,000) –  (47,043)  (13,986,740)  (14,033,783)
Issued in equity  
 rebalancing  3,982,520 – – – –  3,982,520  3,982,520 
Redeemed in equity  
 rebalancing  (3,230) – – – –  (3,230)  (3,230)
Cash dividend paid 
 on shares – – –  (1,148,496) –  (1,148,496)  (90,914)  (1,239,410)
Income tax recovery 
 on cash dividend – – –  339,076 –  339,076 –  339,076 
Balance at end of year $ 65,578,155 $ 6,018,056 $ 4,952,504 $ 25,520,253 $ 2,317,873 $ 104,386,841 – $ 104,386,841 

Year Ended 
December 31, 2015  
(Cdn Dollars)

Capital Stock 
(note 10)

Contributed 
Surplus

Special 
Reserve  

(note 10)
Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other  

Comprehen-
sive Income

Total 
Members 

Equity

Non-
controlling 

Interest
Total  

Equity
Balance at beginning 
 of year $ 41,883,022 $ 6,018,056 $ 2,980,312 $ 21,534,055 $ 3,125,221 $ 75,540,666 $ 13,986,740 $ 89,527,406 
Net income – – – 3,805,964 – 3,805,964 367,851 4,173,816 
Other comprehensive 
 income (loss) net of tax – – – – (504,571) (504,571) – (504,571)
Comprehensive income – – – 3,805,964 (504,571) 3,301,393 367,851 3,669,245 
Transfer to special 
 reserve – – 1,278,000 (1,278,000) – – – –
Transfer from special 
 reserve – – (699,199) 699,199 – – – –
Issued in equity  
 rebalancing 358,500 – – – – 358,500 – 358,500 
Redeemed in equity  
 rebalancing (592,170) – – – – (592,170) – (592,170)
Cash dividend paid 
 on shares – – – (1,097,836) – (1,097,836) (367,851) (1,465,687)
Income tax recovery 
 on cash dividend – – – 310,567 – 310,567 – 310,567 
Balance at end of year $ 41,649,352 $ 6,018,056 $ 3,559,113 $ 23,973,949 $ 2,620,650 $ 77,821,120 $ 13,986,740 $ 91,807,860 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31 (Cdn Dollars)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2016 2015

Operating activities
Net income $ 3,845,029 $ 4,173,816
Adjustments:
Loans and mortgages, net  (41,515,563)  6,977,965
Deposits, net  (44,706,102)  86,523,823
Mortgage backed securities, net  85,513,869  20,908,070
Depreciation  432,830  440,480
Impairment loss on assets held for sale –  49,471
Interest receivable/payable, net  (947,415)  (699,371)
Income tax receivable/payable, net  341,418  (948,836)
Deferred tax assets  (150,065)  (30,854)
Other items, net  (7,927,050)  (1,297,296)

 (5,113,049)  116,097,268

Financing activities
Net proceeds from (redemptions) issuance of capital  9,973,063  (233,670)
Subordinated debentures  (6,381,000) –
Dividends paid to minority interest  (90,914)  (367,851)
Dividends, net of income tax recovery  (809,420)  (787,269)

 2,655,729  (1,388,791)

Investing activities
Investments, net  (2,918,345)  (104,986,116)
Fixed assets, net  (357,122)  656,688

 (3,275,467)  (104,329,428)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (5,732,787)  10,379,050

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year  36,841,928  26,462,878
End of year $ 31,109,141 $ 36,841,928

Includes:
Cash and balances with financial institutions $ 31,048,388 $ 36,585,573
Cash included in investments  60,753  256,355

$ 31,109,141 $ 36,841,928

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest received $ 28,097,250 $ 29,824,219
Dividends received  177,656  182,205
Interest paid  13,385,815  15,026,426
Income taxes paid, net of refunds  1,003,510  2,248,316

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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1. Reporting entity

Atlantic Central (the Company or the Central) is incorporated in 

Nova Scotia under the Credit Union Act. Central has been regu-

lated federally by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 

Institutions (OSFI), and provincially by the Nova Scotia Office of the 

Superintendent of Credit Unions. OSFI supervision of the Central 

came to an end on January 15, 2017 (see Note 14). 

On January 1, 2011, pursuant to a Definitive Combination 

Agreement dated June 30, 2010, Central purchased the assets and 

assumed the liabilities of Credit Union Central of New Brunswick 

and Credit Union Central of Prince Edward Island. With the proc-

lamation of amended credit union legislation in each of Nova 

Scotia, New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island, the three Centrals 

completed a business combination to form Atlantic Central on 

that date. 

Atlantic Central is the continuance of Credit Union Central of Nova 

Scotia and is owned by credit unions in the Atlantic provinces. Its 

head office is located at 6074 Lady Hammond Road in Halifax, Nova 

Scotia, and the Central also operates out of offices in Riverview, 

New Brunswick and Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island. Central’s 

key financial role is the management of the Atlantic credit union 

system’s liquidity reserve requirements. Additionally, Central pro-

vides financial, trade association, and other support services to 

Atlantic credit unions, their members, and others. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by 

the Board of Directors on February 22, 2017.

2. Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian 

dollars and have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The principal accounting 

policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements are set out in Note 3. 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of 

the subsidiary, League Savings and Mortgage Company (League 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2016

Savings). Subsidiaries are defined as entities controlled by the 

Company. Control is defined as the power to govern the financial 

and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the entity’s 

activities. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is 

transferred, and consolidation ceases on the loss of control.

Significant inter-company transactions and account balances have 

been eliminated from the consolidated accounts. The consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 

basis except for certain financial instruments as indicated in Note 3.

The Company presents its consolidated balance sheet on a 

non-classified basis. The following balances are generally classified 

as current: cash and cash equivalents, fixed income investments 

and loans and mortgages maturing within one year, assets held for 

sale, other assets, demand deposits, term deposits and mortgage 

backed securities maturing within one year, and accounts payable 

and accrued liabilities.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value 

and are subsequently accounted for based on their classification as 

described below. 

Financial assets must be classified as fair value through profit or 

loss (FVTPL), available for sale (AFS), held-to-maturity (HTM) or 

loans and receivables (L&R). Financial liabilities are required to be 

classified as FVTPL or other financial liabilities (OFL). 

A financial asset is derecognized when the contractual rights to 

the cash flows from the asset have expired, or the Central transfers 

the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the asset, or 

has assumed an obligation to pay those cash flows to a third party 

and Central has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards 

of ownership of that asset to a third party. A financial liability is 

derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged 

or cancelled or expires.

Changes in fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

classified as FVTPL are reported in earnings, while the changes in 

value of available for sale financial assets are reported within other 

comprehensive income (OCI) until the financial asset is disposed of, 

or becomes impaired. 
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Accumulated OCI is reported on the balance sheet as a separate 

component of Members’ Equity. It includes, on a net of taxes basis, 

the net unrealized gains and losses on available for sale financial 

assets. Central has classified its financial instruments as follows:

FVTPL Interest rate swaps

AFS Investments

L&R Cash and cash equivalents, loans and mortgages, accrued 

interest and other assets

OFL Borrowings, deposits, mortgage backed securities (MBS), 

accrued interest, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

and subordinated debentures

All financial instruments, including all derivatives, are measured 

at fair value on the balance sheet with the exception of loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments and other financial liabil-

ities which are measured at amortized cost.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, and balances with 

financial institutions that are utilized primarily in the payments 

function. Certain cash accounts that are utilized in Central’s invest-

ment activities are reported in investments.

Investments

Investments have been designated as available for sale. 

Investments are initially recorded at cost with premiums and dis-

counts amortized to maturity. Investments are reported at market 

value with any unrealized gains or losses reported in OCI. 

Investment income is recognized on an accrual basis. Realized 

gains and losses on the disposal of securities are included in invest-

ment income. All securities are held for investment purposes.

Loans and mortgages

Loans and mortgages have been designated as loans and receiv-

ables. Loans and mortgages are net of allowances established to 

recognize anticipated losses. The amount provided for anticipated 

loan losses is determined by reference to specific loans or mort-

gages in arrears and by the judgment of management.

Loans are assessed for impairment either individually, where appro-

priate, or collectively. A collective allowance has been established 

to provide for losses on loans and mortgages where past experi-

ence and existing economic and portfolio conditions indicate that 

losses have occurred, but where such losses cannot be specifically 

identified on an account-by-account basis.

Specific allowances are provided for individual loans that have 

experienced deterioration in credit quality such that there is no 

longer a reasonable assurance of the timely collection of the full 

amount of principal and interest, and where the current carrying 

value of the loan is greater than the present value of the future 

cash flows. The assessment of individual loans includes monthly 

reporting on delinquent accounts as well as an evaluation of other 

accounts where the possibility of loss exists, and includes an assess-

ment of the security on the loan. 

The collective allowance is determined based on management’s 

judgment considering business and economic conditions, port-

folio composition, historical credit performance and other relevant 

factors. Pools of loans are assessed based on attributes specific to 

a defined group of borrowers, and considers other characteristics 

that directly affect the collectability of loans that are unique to the 

defined group of borrowers (such as inherent credit risk, indus-

try, and geography). Each pool of loans is assigned a portfolio risk 

factor, which is used to determine a base amount required for the 

collective allowance. This base amount is adjusted to reflect the 

fluctuations in market conditions that most highly correlate with 

credit losses.

Assets received from borrowers in the event of borrower default are 

recorded as real estate held for resale (classified under loans and 

mortgages), and are recorded at the lower of the carrying value 

and the fair value less costs to sell. On the acquisition date any 

excess of the carrying value of the loan over the fair value of the 

assets received is recognized by a charge to the provision for loan 

losses. Any subsequent change in the fair value of real estate held 

for resale is recognized by a charge to lending services expenses.

The Company periodically sells or purchases mortgages, primarily 

to or from credit unions. In these transactions, the seller continues 

to administer the loans sold, but the contractual right to receive 

payments on the loans is offset by an obligation to transfer these 

payments to the purchaser. 
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The loans sold by the Company in these programs are derecog-

nized, and the loans purchased are recognized, on the date of the 

transfer. Any gains or losses on these transactions are recorded in 

other financial income (lending services fees). 

For most sales of mortgages to credit unions, the advance of the 

mortgage to the borrower and the sale of the mortgage to the 

credit union, occur at the same time. As the sale occurs at the cur-

rent market rate there is no gain or loss on these sales. 

Mortgage backed securities

The Company securitizes insured residential mortgages through 

the creation of mortgage backed securities (MBS) under the 

National Housing Act Mortgage-Backed Securities (NHA MBS) pro-

gram sponsored by Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 

(CMHC). All loans securitized under the NHA MBS program are 

required to be insured by the Canadian Mortgage Housing 

Corporation or a third-party insurer. The NHA MBS Program util-

izes a Central Payor and Transfer Agent (CPTA). The use of one 

designated CPTA for all Issuers makes greater Program efficiency 

possible in paying Investors, transferring NHA MBS and issuing new 

NHA MBS.

The MBS created under the program are sold to third-party 

investors, (Market MBS), or are sold to Canada Housing Trust (the 

Trust), a CMHC sponsored structured entity, under the Canada 

Mortgage Bond (CMB) program. 

In a Market MBS the CPTA registers the NHA MBS and issues NHA 

MBS Certificates to investors, and CMHC provides a guarantee of 

the timely payment of amounts due to the investors. The MBS are 

backed by the residential mortgages, and amortize in step with the 

mortgages underlying the security. 

In the CMB program, the Trust aggregates NHA MBS from multiple 

issuers, financing the purchase of the NHA MBS through the issu-

ance of securities to third-party investors. These CMB securities 

provide investors with semi-annual interest payments over the 

term of the bond, and the repayment of the principal balance on 

the specified maturity date. The timely payment of interest and 

principal to investors is guaranteed by CMHC.

The Company uses these securitization programs to diversify its 

funding sources.

With Market MBS, the Company typically continues to adminis-

ter the loans securitized, and is entitled to the payments received 

on the mortgages. At the same time, the Company is obligated 

to make the payments due on the issued MBS, including the 

investment yield due to the investors in the security, regardless of 

whether the Company has collected the funds from the mortgagor. 

The Company also purchases pools of mortgages to sell into the 

CMB program. These mortgage pools are typically administered 

by a third-party mortgage servicer, for a fee. For these pools, the 

Company is also entitled to the payments received on the mort-

gages and obligated to make the payments due on the issued MBS. 

Unlike the Market MBS, the CMB securities do not amortize in step 

with the underlying mortgages. As a result, the CMB program 

requires the provision of replacement MBS securities to offset the 

declining balance of the underlying mortgages through principal 

payments. The CMB program also requires an interest rate swap 

agreement under which a Swap Counterparty pays the CHT the 

interest due to investors, and receives the interest on the NHA 

MBS securities. For a fee, the Company has contracted with a 

third-party financial institution to take on the requirements to pro-

vide the replacement NHA MBS securities, and to act as the Swap 

Counterparty. 

Derecognition

In most cases, the sale of mortgages through the NHA MBS pro-

gram does not meet the requirements for derecognition. Typically, 

the Company has not transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the underlying mortgages, as the 

Company retains the prepayment, credit and interest rate risk asso-

ciated with the mortgages. For sales of MBS that do not qualify for 

derecognition, the Company continues to recognize the underlying 

mortgages in assets as secured loans and the cash proceeds from 

the securitization are recognized as liabilities. 

Securitization retained interests and servicing liabilities

In certain cases, the Company has purchased pools of mortgages 

for subsequent sale into the CMB program where the Company’s 

exposure to risks and rewards from the securitized assets is quite 

limited. In these transactions, the Company retains the rights to the 

future excess interest spread and the liability associated with servi-

cing the assets sold, with very little exposure to variable cash flows. 

The Company accounts for its retained interests and servicing lia-

bilities for these pools on the balance sheet, in other assets and 

other liabilities respectively. During the life of the securitization, 
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as cash is received, the retained interest and the servicing liability 

are amortized and recognized in the statement of income under 

interest on loans and mortgages, and non-interest income (lending 

services expenses), respectively.

Gains on securitization

When these assets are derecognized, the gains or losses on the 

transactions are recorded in other financial income (Securitization 

– gains on sales) and are dependent in part on the previous carry-

ing amount of the financial assets involved in the transfer. The 

proceeds of the sale are allocated between the assets sold and the 

retained interests, based on their relative fair value at the date of 

transfer and net of transaction costs. 

Fixed assets

Land is carried at cost. Buildings, equipment and improvements are 

carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calcu-

lated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives 

of the related assets. The useful life and residual value of fixed assets 

are reviewed at least annually. Depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 2–10%

Furniture and equipment 20–33%

Impairment

Investments are reviewed for impairment on at least an annual 

basis. Changes in the fair value of available for sale investments 

are reported in other comprehensive income. If the investment is 

impaired, however, any cumulative losses previously recognized in 

OCI are reclassified from equity to net income.

Loans and mortgages are classified as impaired at the earlier of 

when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt 

as to the collectability of principal or interest, or when interest or 

principal is contractually past due 90 days, unless the loan or mort-

gage is both well secured and in the process of collection. Interest 

on an impaired loan or mortgage continues to be recognized in 

earnings on an accrual basis and is provided for in the allowance 

for loan losses.

Non-financial assets are assessed for impairment at least annually 

and, where impairment exists, the carrying value is reduced to the 

recoverable amount and any adjustment is recognized in earnings.

Revenue and expense recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the eco-

nomic benefits will flow to the Central and the revenue can readily 

be measured. The principal sources of revenue are interest and fee 

income. Operating expenses are recognized upon the utilization of 

the services or at the date of their origin. 

Interest on loans and mortgages is recognized and reported on 

an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Expenses 

incurred directly in the origination of loans and mortgages are 

deferred and recognized in the income statement as a reduction to 

income over the expected life of the relevant loans and mortgages. 

Fee, commission and other income is recognized on an accrual 

basis as it is earned.

The Company periodically sells mortgages. Gains or losses are 

recognized on transfers of mortgages to other parties when the 

Central has transferred the significant risks and rewards of owner-

ship. Where the Central continues to service the mortgages, an 

administration fee is calculated on the outstanding balance of the 

mortgages. This fee is recognized as the services are provided and 

reported in earnings as other income.

Translation of foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the 

balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated using the rate at the transaction date.

Foreign currency translation gains and losses are included in bank-

ing service fees. 

Leases

A lease transfers the economic ownership of a leased asset if the 

lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards related to the 

ownership of the leased asset. The related asset is then recognized 

at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, 

if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental 

payments, if any. A corresponding amount is recognized as a 

finance leasing liability.
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All other leases are treated as operating leases. Payments on 

operating lease agreements are recognized as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term. Associated costs, such as 

maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

Income taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current 

tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income except to the 

extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recog-

nized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income 

taxes payable or receivable on taxable income or loss for the cur-

rent year and any adjustment to income taxes payable in respect of 

previous years. Current income taxes are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. 

This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the carrying 

amount of an asset or liability differs from its tax base, except for 

taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of 

goodwill and temporary differences arising on the initial recogni-

tion of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 

combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Recognition of deferred tax assets for unused tax (losses), tax cred-

its and deductible temporary differences is restricted to those 

instances where it is probable that future taxable profit will be 

available which allow the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Deferred 

tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 

will be realized.

The amount of the deferred tax asset or liability is measured at 

the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 

authorities. This amount is determined using tax rates and tax laws 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end 

date and are expected to apply when the liabilities / (assets) are 

settled / (recovered).

Deposits

Deposits are measured at fair value on recognition net of transaction 

costs directly attributable to issuance. Subsequent measurement is 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits include salaries and wages, com-

pensated absences, medical and dental plans, and variable 

compensation. Central also contributes on behalf of employees 

to a Group Savings for Retirement Program and to life and long-

term disability insurance plans. Under these defined contribution 

programs the Central pays fixed contributions to an independent 

entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 

contributions. Defined contribution program costs of $529,275 

(2015 – $528,522) are expensed as the related service is provided. 

Special projects

Expenses that are not expected to recur in normal operations, 

including certain expenses relating to credit union system initia-

tives, are charged to special projects.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing Central’s financial statements, management is 

required to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-

ments and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 

period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recorded in 

the period in which the estimate reversed if the revision affects 

only that period or in the period of revision and in future periods if 

the revision affects both the current and future periods. 

The judgments and estimates that have the most significant effect 

on the amounts recognized in the financial statements are deci-

sions with respect to the fair value of financial instruments, the 

allowance for loan losses, the derecognition of loans and mort-

gages, and income taxes. 
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Fair value of financial instruments

The determination of the fair value of financial instruments requires 

the exercise of judgment by management. The fair value of finan-

cial instruments traded in active markets at the balance sheet 

date is based on their quoted market prices. Where independent 

quoted market prices do not exist, fair value may be based on other 

observable current market transactions or based on a valuation 

technique which maximizes the use of observable market inputs. 

For certain types of equity instruments, where no active market 

exists or where quoted prices are not otherwise available, fair 

value is determined by using valuation techniques. Management 

has reviewed the attributes of these investments and has deter-

mined that the fair value was equal to the redemption value of the 

investment, as there is no ability to otherwise sell the investment. 

Management has also determined that the redemption value 

approximated historical cost.

Allowance for credit losses

Judgments about the impairment of loans and mortgages, and 

the related allowances for credit losses, are based on manage-

ment’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that 

are expected to be received. This includes estimates about the 

borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable value of any 

underlying collateral. Collectively assessed allowances cover credit 

losses in portfolios of loans and mortgages having similar credit 

characteristics, and include judgments regarding factors such as 

portfolio credit quality, concentrations of credit, and economic 

factors. In order to estimate collective allowances, assumptions are 

made in determining modelling parameters based on historical 

experience and current economic conditions.

Derecognition of loans and mortgages

In determining whether to derecognize loans and mortgages, 

judgment is applied in determining whether the Company has 

transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership in 

transferring the assets to another entity. 

Income taxes

The determination of deferred tax assets or liabilities requires 

judgment as the recognition is dependent on projections of future 

taxable profits and tax rates that are expected to be in effect in the 

period the asset is realized or the liability is settled. 

4. Changes in accounting standards 

The IASB continues to make changes to IFRS to improve the overall 

quality of financial reporting. The Company monitors IASB develop-

ments that are relevant to the Company’s financial reporting and 

accounting policies. 

Changes in accounting policies during the year

There were no new or amended standards effective in 2016 that 

had a material impact on the financial statements.

Future changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards 

and interpretations, are not yet effective for the year ended 

December 31, 2016 and have not yet been adopted by the 

Company in preparing these financial statements. Other than the 

introduction of IFRS 9, these changes are not expected to have a 

material impact on the financial statements. 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 – Financial 

Instruments, first issued in November 2009, which brings together 

the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 

accounting phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39.

IFRS 9 introduces a principles-based approach to the classifica-

tion of financial assets based on an entity’s business model and 

the nature of the cash flows of the asset. All financial assets are 

measured at FVTPL unless certain conditions are met which per-

mit measurement at amortized cost or fair value through OCI. 

The classification and measurement of liabilities remain generally 

unchanged, with the exception of liabilities recorded at FVTPL.

IFRS 9 also introduces a new expected loss impairment model for 

all financial assets not at FVTPL, which results in credit losses being 

recognized regardless of whether a loss event has occurred. This 

expected credit loss (ECL) model replaces the current “incurred loss” 

model of IAS 39. 

The ECL model requires an entity to recognize expected credit 

losses at all times and to update the amount of expected credit 

losses recognized at each reporting date to reflect changes in the 

credit risk of financial instruments. The ECL model has three stages: 
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• Stage 1 – on initial recognition, 12-month expected credit 

losses are recognized in profit or loss and a loss allowance is 

established; 

• Stage 2 – if credit risk increases significantly and the resulting 

credit quality is not considered to be low credit risk, full lifetime 

expected credit losses are recognized; and 

• Stage 3 – when the credit risk of a financial asset increases to 

the point it is considered credit-impaired, interest revenue is 

calculated based on the carrying amount of the asset, net of the 

loss allowance, rather than its gross carrying amount. Lifetime 

expected credit losses are still recognized on these financial 

assets.

Finally, IFRS 9 introduces a new hedge accounting model that 

aligns the accounting for hedge relationships more closely with an 

entity’s risk management activities. 

IFRS 9 is effective January 1, 2018. While the impact of the new 

standard on the Company has not yet been determined, the 

Company is participating in a national credit union system initiative 

to assist credit unions, and related entities to prepare for the imple-

mentation of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which is also 

effective January 1, 2018, provides a recognition and measurement 

approach that replaces the previous revenue standard (IAS 18 – 

Revenues), and the related interpretations on revenue recognition. 

The new standard is a control-based model that focuses on risk 

and rewards. Under the new standard, revenue is recognized when 

a customer obtains control of a good or service. The new model 

applies to all contracts with customers except those that are within 

the scope of other IFRS standards such as leases, insurance con-

tracts and financial instruments.

In 2016, the IASB issued additional amendments to IFRS 15. These 

amendments provide additional clarification on the identification 

of a performance obligation in a contract, determining the princi-

pal and agent in an agreement, and determining whether licensing 

revenues should be recognized at a point in time or over a specific 

period. The amendments also provide additional practical expedi-

ents upon transition to IFRS 15.

IFRS 16 – Leases, which is effective January 1, 2019, sets out the 

principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 

disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, i.e. the cus-

tomer (lessee) and the supplier (lessor). IFRS 16 eliminates the 

classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases 

as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single lessee 

accounting model. Applying that model, a lessee is required to 

recognize:

• Assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 

12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and 

• Depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease lia-

bilities in the income statement.

For lessees, the new standard will result in on-balance sheet rec-

ognition for many leases that are considered operating leases 

under IAS 17, which will result in the gross-up of the balance sheet 

through the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a liability for the 

lease component of the future payments. Depreciation expense on 

the right-of-use asset and interest expense on the lease liability will 

replace the operating lease expense. The accounting for leases by 

lessors remains mostly unchanged from IAS 17.

5. Risk management

Central has an enterprise-wide approach to the identification, 

measurement, monitoring and management of risks faced across 

the organization. Central manages significant risks efficiently and 

effectively through an Enterprise Risk Management Framework 

(ERM) which includes a comprehensive infrastructure of policies, 

procedures, methods, oversight and independent review, designed 

to reduce the significant risks and to manage those risks within 

appropriate tolerances for the Company.

Authority for all risk-taking activities rests with the Board of 

Directors (Board), which approves the Central’s Risk Appetite 

Statement and risk management policies, delegates limits and 

regularly reviews management’s risk assessments and compliance 

with approved policies. Qualified professionals throughout the 

Central manage these risks through comprehensive and integrated 

control processes and models, including regular review and assess-

ment of risk measurement and reporting processes. 

The various processes within Central’s risk management framework 

are designed to ensure that risks in the various business activities 

are properly identified, measured, stress tested, assessed and con-

trolled. Internal Audit reports independently to the Audit, Risk and 

Conduct Review Committees of the Board on the effectiveness of 

the risk management policies and the extent to which internal con-

trols are in place and operating effectively.
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Stress testing is a risk measurement technique that examines the 

potential effects on Central’s financial condition resulting from 

adverse economic, liquidity, credit, and/or financial market condi-

tions. Central’s risk management processes include stress testing 

scenarios including exceptional but plausible adverse events that 

can impact the Central’s financial results and capital requirements, 

the results of which are used to enhance our understanding of our 

risk profile, and to support our strategic decision making. Stress 

testing results are also explicitly incorporated into the Company’s 

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Capital 

Plan.

The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the oversight of risk 

management across the organization and reports quarterly to 

the Risk Committee and the Board. The Management Finance 

Committee (MFC) is responsible for the review and evaluation of 

the financial risks and performance of the Company, including the 

management of:

• Credit risk

• Liquidity

• Interest rate risk 

• Foreign exchange

• Investment portfolio

• Derivatives

• Large exposures

• Capital

The MFC reviews financial risk management policies, recommends 

changes to policies and procedures as appropriate, and monitors 

compliance with financial policies. 

The Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO) has been estab-

lished to ensure the effective and prudent management of Central’s 

financial assets and liabilities. ALCO will achieve this by developing 

and implementing financial strategies and related processes con-

sistent with the short and long term goals set by the Board. 

Central’s principal business activities result in a balance sheet that 

consists primarily of financial instruments. The key risks related to 

our financial instruments are credit, liquidity and market risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a borrower, 

endorser or guarantor to fulfill its payment obligation to the 

Company. Credit risk arises in Central’s direct lending operations 

and in its funding and investing activities where counterpar-

ties have repayment or other obligations to Central. Central has 

established policies and procedures for credit risk management, 

including individual counterparty limits and portfolio category lim-

its relating to investment activities. 

Management of credit risk requires prudent and conservative 

underwriting criteria administered by well-trained and experienced 

personnel. Credit risk management practices also include con-

sistent and timely collection procedures, conservative analysis of 

property appraisals, and a realistic loan allowance process to pro-

vide a regular evaluation of the loan portfolio. Credit policies are 

reviewed and approved annually by the Board. Management regu-

larly reviews its credit procedures to ensure they provide extensive, 

up-to-date guidance for the underwriting and administration of all 

types of loans. 

All loans are risk rated at the time of approval, and may be subject 

to subsequent risk assessment based on factors such as loan type, 

amount, original risk rating and payment history. Loans with higher 

risk require more intensive analysis and higher levels of approval. 

The Credit Committee of the Board reviews all loans above the 

lending limits of management. 

Central maintains both specific and collective allowances for credit 

losses. Specific allowances are established based on management’s 

knowledge of the property and prevailing conditions. Collective 

allowances are maintained to cover any impairment in the loan 

portfolio that cannot yet be associated with specific loans. The col-

lective allowance is determined based on Central’s risk weighted 

portfolio and other factors including an assessment of market risk.

The subsidiary utilizes OSFI’s Standardized approach for credit risk 

(Note 14), which includes OSFI-prescribed risk-weights based on 

factors including counterparty type, product type, collateral, and 

external credit assessments.

Management regularly monitors Central’s credit risk and reports to 

the Board on a quarterly basis.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity refers to the capacity to generate or obtain sufficient cash 

or its equivalent in a timely manner at a reasonable price to meet 

the Central’s commitments as they fall due and to fund new busi-

ness opportunities. Liquidity risk is the potential for losses to be 

incurred from holding insufficient liquidity to survive a contingent 

stress event.

Central’s primary role is to manage liquidity for the credit union 

systems in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island and 

Newfoundland and Labrador. In its role as a credit union service 

partner, League Savings’ primary financial role is to accept deposits 

from credit unions, their members, and others, and to employ 

those funds to advance loans and mortgages to credit union mem-

bers and others.

Central has established policies to ensure that it is able to generate 

sufficient funds to meet all of its financial commitments in a timely 

and cost-effective manner. In addition, a liquidity plan is prepared 

which forecasts the amount of liquidity required and the sources 

that will be used to fund those requirements. These policies and 

plans are annually reviewed and approved by the Board. 

Central’s liquidity management practices include:

• Ensuring the quality of investments acquired for liquidity pur-

poses meet very high standards 

• Matching the maturities of assets and liabilities 

• Diversifying funding sources 

• Establishing and maintaining minimum liquidity reserves 

• Monitoring actual cash flows on a daily basis 

• Forecasting future cash flow requirements

• Utilizing lines of credit to fund temporary needs and selling or 

securitizing mortgage pools to meet longer term requirements

• Performing scenario testing and contingency planning 

While operating under similar liquidity management frameworks, 

certain liquidity management practices of the Central and the sub-

sidiary, League Savings, differ due to the specific nature of each 

organization. While the Central’s primary financial role is to manage 

the liquidity requirements of the Atlantic credit union system, 

League Savings acts primarily in the mortgage lending and deposit 

taking industry. In particular, the potential liquidity stresses that are 

modelled in scenario testing are different. 

As the credit unions’ system liquidity provider, Central’s cash 

flows are impacted by the liquidity requirements of the individual 

Atlantic credit unions. As a result, Central’s liquidity stress test-

ing assesses the impact of increases in the drawdowns of credit 

union lines of credit, and decreases in credit union excess liquidity 

deposits (deposits above the levels that credit unions are required 

to maintain with the Central). 

League Savings’ cash flows are most significantly impacted by 

its credit union corporate deposits. As such, its scenario testing 

focuses on increases in the redemptions of these deposits.

The matching of the maturities of assets and liabilities are detailed 

in Note 11.

Management monitors Central’s liquidity position daily and reports 

to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss that results from changes in interest 

rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices and commodity prices. 

Market risk exposures are managed through policies, standards and 

limits established by the Board, which are formally reviewed and 

approved annually. This includes limits on the mismatch of foreign 

currency assets and liabilities, and limits on the amount of equity 

investments permitted in the securities portfolio. The Company has 

no exposure to commodity prices.

Central uses a variety of techniques to identify, measure and con-

trol market risk. Derivatives may be used only to offset clearly 

identified risks. Central has developed standards regarding the use 

of derivative products. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that a movement in interest rates will 

have on the financial condition of the Company. Central’s inter-

est rate risk policies include limits on the allowable variation in 

forecasted financial margin due to interest rate changes. Central 

manages and controls interest rate risk primarily by managing 

asset/liability maturities; however, off-balance sheet techniques 

such as interest rate risk contracts may be used to hedge against 

specific interest rate exposures. 
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Central measures interest rate risk through a combination of gap 

and income simulation analysis on a quarterly basis. Gap analy-

sis measures the difference between the amount of assets and 

liabilities repricing in specific time periods. Income simulation 

models are used to measure interest rate exposure under various 

assumptions about interest rates, products, volumes and pricing. 

Sensitivity analysis of an interest rate increase and decrease of 100 

basis points is disclosed in the table below. 

Earnings at risk over the next 12 months as at December 31: 

2016 2015

100 basis point increase $ (517,230) $ (645,800)
100 basis point decrease (116,840) 524,300

Management provides quarterly reports to the Board on interest 

rate risk. The Board has established limits on Central’s maximum 

exposure to interest rate risk, and Central’s earnings at risk were 

within this limit.

2016 
Cost

2016 
Market Value

2015
Cost

2016  
Market Value 

Banks (a) $ 300,041,315 $ 300,238,682 $ 273,921,510 $ 273,908,865 
Government debt  57,574,331  58,881,995  68,825,542  71,052,363 
Corporate debt  12,892,970  13,027,265  24,848,641  25,091,479 
Co-operative deposits  284,811,682  284,819,488  284,909,398  284,927,269 
Co-operative equities  5,021,272  5,047,056  5,005,858  4,974,184 
Corporate equities  112,461  1,799,400  112,461  1,439,760 

$ 660,454,031 $ 663,813,886 $ 657,623,410 $ 661,393,920 

(a) Includes cash and cash equivalents utilized in the investments function

6. Investments
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Total Loans
Impaired 

Loans
Total 

Allowance

Specific 
Allowance 
(included 

in total 
allowance) Net Loans

2016
Insured residential mortgages $ 376,208,944 $ 18,848 $ 268,025 $ 18,848 $ 375,940,919
Uninsured residential mortgages  95,745,308  101,600  506,393 –  95,238,915
Loans and non-residential mortgages  116,196,685  287,153  1,118,095  137,153  115,078,590
Co-operatives  6,146,189 – – –  6,146,189
Real estate held for sale  999,822 – – –  999,822

 595,296,948  407,601  1,892,513  156,001  593,404,435
Less: under administration

Residential insured  97,395,982 – – –  97,395,982
Residential uninsured  10,866,432 – – –  10,866,432

 108,262,414 – – –  108,262,414
$ 487,034,534 $ 407,601 $ 1,892,513 $ 156,001 $ 485,142,021

2015
Insured residential mortgages $ 358,758,887 $ – $ 205,478 $ – $ 358,553,409
Uninsured residential mortgages 86,366,952 190,887 411,731 – 85,955,221
Loans and non-residential mortgages 90,912,141 347,132 830,100 30,238 90,082,041
Co-operatives 11,424,526 – – – 11,424,526
Real estate held for sale 1,910,765 – – – 1,910,765

549,373,271 538,019 1,447,309 30,238 547,925,962
Less: under administration

Residential insured 95,037,811 – – – 95,037,811
Residential uninsured 9,224,339 – – – 9,224,339
Non-residential 37,354 – – – 37,354

104,299,504 – – – 104,299,504
$ 445,073,767 $ 538,019 $ 1,447,309 $ 30,238 $ 443,626,458

2016 2015 

Continuity of allowance for loan losses
Allowance, beginning of year $ 1,447,309 $ 1,464,598 
Loan loss provisions (recoveries)  445,204  (17,289)
Allowance, end of year $ 1,892,513 $ 1,447,309 

7. Loans and mortgages
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2016 2015

Delinquent loans
31 to 60 days $ 964,375 $ 983,956
61 to 90 days  59,088 275,042 
91 to 180 days  146,516 106,393 
over 180 days  51,695 113,116 

$ 1,221,674 $ 1,478,507

8. Mortgage backed securities

Balances relating to mortgage backed securities under the NHA MBS program are as follows:

a) Transferred assets that do not qualify for derecognition

2016 2015
Market MBS CMB Total Market MBS CMB Total

Carrying value of NHA MBS assets $ 69,879,039  64,980,386  134,859,425 $ 33,357,776 15,695,174 49,052,950
Carrying value of associated liabilities  69,872,397  64,679,738  134,552,135 33,343,092 15,695,174 49,038,266

The following is an analysis of loans that may become impaired based on the age of repayments outstanding:

b) Transferred assets that have been derecognized

In addition to the mortgage backed securities above, certain mort-

gages were sold into the CMB program and derecognized. Balances 

relating to these transferred assets are as follows:

2016 2015
Mortgages sold $ 273,969,605 $ 65,911,377 
Gains on sales  1,528,292  525,877 

Related balances at December 31:
Retained interests  11,995,356  2,411,661 
Servicing liabilities  1,880,462  264,958 
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9. Fixed assets

Land
Buildings and 

improvements
Furniture and 

equipment Total

2016
Gross carrying amount
Balance at January 1 $ 351,522 $ 5,352,045 $ 6,357,531 $ 12,061,098
Additions –  173,293  204,041  377,334
Disposals – –  (55,125)  (55,125)
Balance at December 31 $ 351,522 $ 5,525,338 $ 6,506,447 $ 12,383,307

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1 –  (3,575,382)  (6,074,382)  (9,649,764)
Disposals – –  34,913  34,913
Depreciation –  (273,661)  (159,169)  (432,830)
Balance at December 31 –  (3,849,043)  (6,198,638)  (10,047,681)
Carrying amount December 31 $ 351,522 $ 1,676,295 $ 307,809 $ 2,335,626

2015
Gross carrying amount
Balance at January 1 $ 351,522 $ 5,126,521 $ 6,249,214 $ 11,727,257
Additions –  225,523  108,318  333,841
Balance at December 31 $ 351,522 $ 5,352,044 $ 6,357,532 $ 12,061,098

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1 –  (3,308,281)  (5,901,003)  (9,209,284)
Depreciation –  (267,101)  (173,379)  (440,480)
Balance at December 31 –  (3,575,382)  (6,074,382)  (9,649,764)
Carrying amount December 31 $ 351,522 $ 1,776,662 $ 283,150 $ 2,411,334

In 2014, management made the decision to sell the office in 

Riverview, New Brunswick, and reclassified the land and building 

as assets held for sale, valued at the lower of the carrying value 

and the fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss of $199,568 

was recorded in 2014 and was reported in Other Expenses. The 

property was sold in 2015 and an additional loss of $49,471 was 

recorded in 2015.



ATLANTIC CENTRAL ANNUAL REPORT 2016 [ 37 ]

10. Capital stock

Authorized capital stock, and the amounts outstanding, is as follows:

Outstanding
2016 2015

Par Value
Redemption 

Price Authorized Shares Amount Shares Amount

Opening balance  4,164,923 $ 41,649,230  4,188,290 $ 41,882,900
Issued  398,252  3,982,520  35,850  358,500
Redeemed  (1,825)  (18,250)  (59,217)  (592,170)

Common shares None None $ Unlimited  4,561,350 $ 45,613,500  4,164,923  41,649,230

Opening balance  31,991 $ 32  31,991 $ 32
Issued – – – –
Redeemed – – – –

Preferred Shares – Class B $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000  31,991 $ 32  31,991 $ 32

Opening balance – – – –
Issued  19,991,556  19,991,556 – –
Redeemed  (27,023)  (27,023) – –

Preferred Shares – Class LSM $ 1.000 $ 1 $ 10,000,000  19,964,533  19,964,533 – –

Opening balance  26,700 $ 27  26,700 $ 27
Issued – – – –
Redeemed – – – –

Preferred Shares – Class NB $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000  26,700 $ 27  26,700 $ 27

Opening balance  4,100 $ 4  4,100 $ 4
Issued – – – –
Redeemed – – – –

Preferred Shares – Class NL $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000  4,100 $ 4  4,100 $ 4

Opening balance  59,290 $ 59  59,290 $ 59
Issued – – – –
Redeemed  (50) – – –

Preferred Shares – Class NS $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000  59,240 $ 59  59,290 $ 59

Opening balance  100 –  100 –
Issued – – – –
Redeemed – – – –

Preferred Shares – Class PEI $ 0.001 $ 100 $ 10,000,000  100 –  100 –
24,648,014 $ 65,578,155 4,287,104 $ 41,649,352
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Shares are owned by member credit unions, who must maintain 

Common Shares in amounts proportionate to that member’s 

pro-rata share of system assets. Common Share ownership require-

ments are determined by the Board. All classes of shares are 

non-voting. Members hold votes proportionate to their pro-rata 

share of system assets. 

All of the Class B, Class NB, Class NL, Class NS and Class PEI shares 

were issued as part of the business combination described in Note 

1. Central may at any time, upon providing 30-days notice, and sub-

ject to any limitations set by applicable legislation or the Office of 

the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, redeem these shares 

for the redemption price. 

Other than the redemption of shares that would result from the 

wind-up of a credit union, Central has no plans to redeem any 

of the remaining Class B, Class NB, Class NL, Class NS or Class PEI 

shares at this time. The redemption value of the remaining shares is 

$12,213,100 (2015 – $12,218,100). 

Common shareholders have the right to receive any dividends 

that may be declared out of the ordinary income of the Company. 

Holders of the Class B, Class NB, Class NL, Class NS and Class PEI 

shares have the right to receive any dividends that may be declared 

out of the extraordinary income of the Central on that respective 

class of shares. Ordinary income refers to income earned in the 

ordinary course of business after January 1, 2011. Extraordinary 

income refers to income which does not typically result from nor-

mal business activities.

In December 2016, Central transferred $2,250,000 (2015 – 

$1,278,000) in Retained Earnings to a Special Reserve to be used 

to fund future Atlantic credit union initiatives. Spending out of the 

Special Reserve is reported in the Statement of Income in Special 

Projects (see Note 23). 

In 2015 the Company developed a capital restructure plan which 

would result in the redemption of both subordinated debentures 

and Class A preferred shares of the Subsidiary. Credit unions would 

reinvest the proceeds of redemption in a new class of preferred 

shares of the Central. The Central would, in turn, invest in additional 

common shares of the Subsidiary. The successful completion of the 

plan would result in an increase in the Subsidiary’s Common Equity 

Tier 1 – the strongest form of regulatory capital.

The bylaw changes required to complete the restructure plan were 

approved by the shareholders of both Atlantic Central and League 

Savings in September 2015. In January 2016 OSFI provided its 

approval for the redemption of the subordinate debentures and 

the Class A preferred shares by League Savings. 

The restructure plan was completed in 2016, with all of the credit 

unions providing subscription agreements for the investment in 

the new class of preferred shares of the Central.
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11. Financial instruments

a) Interest rate risk

Central earns and pays interest on certain assets and liabilities. 

To the extent that the assets, liabilities and financial instruments 

mature or reprice at different points in time, Central is exposed to 

interest rate risk. The table below summarizes carrying amounts 

of balance sheet instruments by the earlier of the contractual 

repricing or maturity dates. Non-interest Sensitive items are those 

that have no maturity date and do not pay or receive interest.

An estimate of prepayments has been determined by management 

and includes the estimated principal portion of regular mortgage 

payments and full payouts of mortgage loans during their term 

based upon historical trends for these types of payments.

(Reported in $000’s)
Within 

3 Months
3 Months 
to 1 Year

1 Year to 
5 Years

Over 5 
Years

Non–
interest 

Sensitive Total
Average 

Rate

2016 %
Assets
Cash and investments $ 331,476 $ 82,479 $ 239,962 $ 6,557 $ 34,388 $ 694,862  1.43
Loans and mortgages  31,101  74,899  381,254 –  (2,112)  485,142  3.51
Other assets – – – –  23,844  23,844

$ 362,577 $ 157,378 $ 621,216 $ 6,557 $ 56,120 $ 1,203,848

Liabilities and equity
Deposits $ 353,627 $ 405,335 $ 159,810 – $ 32,160 $ 950,932  1.08
Other liabilities – – – –  13,977  13,977
Mortgage backed securities  95  1,426  132,724 –  307  134,552  1.44
Equity and subordinated 
 debentures – – – – 104,387  104,387

$ 353,722 $ 406,761 $ 292,534 – $ 150,831 $ 1,203,848
Subtotal $ 8,855 $ (249,383) $ 328,682 $ 6,557 $ (94,711) –
Derivatives  25,000  (25,000) – – – –
Prepayment estimate  14,297  42,891  (57,188) – – –
Excess (deficiency) $ 48,152 $ (231,492) $ 271,494 $ 6,557 $ (94,711) –

2015
Assets
Cash and investments $ 292,836 $ 78,985 $ 277,101 $ 8,478 $ 40,579 $ 697,979 1.48
Loans and mortgages 32,560 87,835 324,479 – (1,248) 443,626 3.86
Other assets – – – – 13,966 13,966

$ 325,396 $ 166,820 $ 601,580 $ 8,478 $ 53,297 $ 1,155,571

Liabilities and equity
Deposits $ 391,232 $ 406,669 $ 197,737 $ – $ – $ 995,638 1.13
Other liabilities – – – – 12,707 12,707
Mortgage backed securities – – 49,038 – – 49,038 1.76
Equity and subordinated 
 debentures – – – – 98,188 98,188

$ 391,232 $ 406,669 $ 246,775 $ – $ 110,895 $ 1,155,571
Subtotal $ (65,836) $ (239,849) $ 354,805 $ 8,478 $ (57,598) $ –
Derivatives 35,000 (10,000) (25,000) – – –
Prepayment estimate 12,168 36,504 (48,672) – – –
Excess (deficiency) $ (18,668) $ (213,345) $ 281,133 $ 8,478 $ (57,598) $ –
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b) Interest rate swap agreements

Central may enter into interest rate swap agreements as a compon-

ent of its overall risk management strategy. These agreements are 

contractual arrangements between two parties to exchange a ser-

ies of cash flows. In an interest rate swap agreement, counterparties 

generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based 

on a notional value. Typically, the floating rate is reset periodically, 

and the net interest amount is exchanged between the counter-

parties at scheduled dates. The primary risks associated with these 

contracts are the exposure to movements in interest rates and the 

ability of the counterparties to meet the terms of the contract. 

Interest rate swap agreements are used to manage interest rate risk 

by modifying the repricing or maturities of assets and liabilities. 

Interest rate swap agreements are considered financial derivatives 

and are recorded at fair value. 

Interest rate swap contracts outstanding at December 31 are as 

follows:

2016
Notional Value Rate Market Value

Pay fixed swaps: 
Term to maturity
Within 1 year $ 25,000,000 1.10% (62,024)
1 year to 5 years – – –
Over 5 years – – –

$ 25,000,000 $ (62,024)

2015
Pay fixed swaps:  
Term to maturity
Within 1 year $ 10,000,000 0.82% $ (4,514)
1 year to 5 years 25,000,000 1.26% (195,396) 
Over 5 years – –

$ 35,000,000 $ (199,911)

Rates represent the weighted average interest rates Central is con-

tractually committed to pay/receive until the swap matures. The 

floating side of all swaps are based on the three-month Canadian 

Dealer Offered Rate (CDOR). Market value represents the mark to 

market value of outstanding contracts – generally, the net amount 

that would be payable or receivable on the reporting date based 

on the floating rate at current market rates. There were no “receive 

fixed” swaps outstanding at December 31.

Income and expenses on interest rate swap agreements are rec-

ognized over the life of the contract as an adjustment to interest 

expense. Accrued expenses are recorded in accrued interest 

payable. Mark to market gains (losses) on swaps are recorded in 

other assets (other liabilities), while the change in market value is 

recorded in Financial Expense. 

c) Index linked deposits

Central offers index linked term deposits, which are non-redeem-

able three- and five-year term deposits that pay, on maturity, a 

return to the depositor linked to the performance of a market 

index. The interest paid to the depositor at maturity is based on the 

growth in the index over the term of the deposits. 

To offset the risk of this variable interest rate, Central enters into 

agreements, whereby Central pays a fixed rate of interest for 

the term of each index linked deposit based on the face value 

of the deposits sold. At the end of the term, Central receives an 

amount equal to the amount that will be paid to the depositors. 

At December 31, 2016, the balance of outstanding index linked 

deposits was $2,647,903 (2015 – $2,987,796).

d) Fair value

The following table presents the fair value of on- and off-balance 

sheet financial instruments of Central based on the valuation 

methods and assumptions set out below. Fair value represents 

the amount at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to 

transfer a liability would take place between market participants 

at the measurement date under current market conditions, and is 

measured using the assumptions that market participants would 

use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions 

about risk.

Fair value is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists. 

Quoted market prices are not available for a significant portion of 

Central’s financial instruments. 

The fair values disclosed exclude the values of assets and liabil-

ities that are not considered financial instruments such as land, 

buildings and equipment. In addition, items such as the value of 

intangible assets such as customer relationships which, in manage-

ment’s opinion add significant value to Central, are not included in 

the disclosures below. 
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A three-tier hierarchy is used as a framework for disclosing fair 

values based on inputs used to value the Central’s financial instru-

ments recorded at fair value. Valuation methods used in this 

framework are categorized under the following fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices for active markets for identical financial 

instruments that the entity can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active mar-

kets; quoted prices for identical or similar financial instruments 

in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations in 

which all significant inputs are observable in active markets.

• Level 3 – Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which 

one or more significant inputs are not based on observable 

market data.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximate 

their fair value as they are short term in nature or are receivable 

on demand. For investments, corporate equities are valued using 

quoted market prices (Level 1); banks, government and corpor-

ate debt and co-operative deposit investments are valued using 

market prices provided by third-party brokers (Level 2); and 

co-operative equities are carried at estimated market value which 

approximates cost. There have been no transfers between Level 1 

and 2 during the year, and there were no investments valued using 

Level 3 inputs.

For variable rate loans and deposits the carrying value is also con-

sidered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value. For fixed rate 

loans and mortgages, deposits, and mortgage backed securities, 

the fair value is calculated using a discounted cash flow model, 

based on current interest rates and the term to maturity of the 

instrument (Level 2). The discount rates applied were based on 

the current market rate offered for the average remaining term to 

maturity. 

The calculation of estimated fair values is based on market condi-

tions at a specific point in time and may not be reflective of future 

fair values.

2016 2015

Cost
Estimated  
Fair Value Cost

Estimated  
Fair Value

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,048,388 $ 31,048,388 $ 36,585,573 $ 36,585,573
Investments  660,454,031  663,813,886 657,623,410 661,393,920
Loans and mortgages  485,142,021  491,582,915 443,626,458 451,046,579
Accrued interest  4,439,224  4,439,224 4,249,181 4,249,181

Liabilities
Deposits $ 950,931,609 $ 958,387,637 $ 995,637,711 $ 1,000,993,542
Accrued interest  3,004,734  3,004,734 3,762,106 3,762,106
Mortgage backed securities  134,552,135  134,642,799 49,038,266 49,297,407

Derivatives – $ (62,024)  – $ (199,910)
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12. Commitments and contractual obligations

a) Approved loans and mortgages

At December 31, 2016, Central had approved lines of credit in the 

amount of $109,076,811 (2015 – $126,838,474), approved mort-

gages for syndication of $25,394,659 (2015 – $12,550,000) and 

other approved mortgages in the amount of $13,091,984 (2015 – 

$16,045,228) which have not been advanced.

b) Clearing and settlement agreement

Central has entered into a contract for clearing, settlement and US 

Dollar account services. The contract expires in July 2018. Pricing 

is subject to annual adjustment effective January 1st of each 

calendar year.

c) Interest rate swap agreements

The Company, as intermediary for certain credit unions, may enter 

into various interest rate swap agreements in order that the credit 

unions may manage their exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

The terms of the agreements provide that Central pay a fixed inter-

est rate on notional principal amounts due to mature in the future 

in exchange for variable or short term interest rate returns on these 

same amounts. In turn, reciprocal interest rate swap agreements 

would be entered into with the respective credit unions. There 

were no such matching interest rate swap agreements outstanding 

at December 31, 2016.

d) Foreign exchange forward agreements 

The Company, as intermediary for certain credit unions, may enter 

into various forward agreements in order that the credit unions 

may manage their exposure to foreign currency fluctuations. The 

terms of the agreements provide that Central buy or sell a fixed 

amount of foreign currency, at a fixed exchange rate, on a specified 

future date. In turn, a reciprocal agreement is entered into with the 

credit unions, to sell or buy the same amount of foreign currency 

on the same dates. There were no forward rate agreements out-

standing at December 31, 2016. 

e) Rental of premises

Central has entered into operating leases for the rental of premises 

in Charlottetown. The term of the lease is from January 1, 2011 to 

December 31, 2017, and there is an option to extend the lease for a 

further five-year term. 

Central has also entered into a sublease to rent a portion of the 

space to a third party. The term of the sublease is from November 1, 

2012 to October 30, 2017, and there is an option to extend the sub-

lease for a further five-year term. 

Lease payments of $56,375 on the premises in Charlottetown were 

recognized as an expense and sublease payments of $18,000 were 

recognized as revenue during the period. There were no contin-

gent lease payments.

In 2015 Central entered into an operating lease for the rental of 

premises in Riverview. The term of the lease is from August 21, 

2015 to August 20, 2018, and there is an option to extend the lease 

for a further three-year term. Lease payments of $58,609 were rec-

ognized as an expense during the period, including minimum lease 

payments of $36,422 and contingent costs of $22,186.
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Central has committed to pay annual lease payments, and has com-

mitments to receive sublease payments, as follows:

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 After 5 Years
Lease payments $ 92,797 $ 24,281 $ – $ – $ – $ –
Sublease payments 13,500 – – – – –
Net lease payments $ 79,297 $ 24,281 $ – $ – $ – $ –

13. Income taxes

The components of tax expense are as follows:

2016 2015
Current tax expense

Federal and provincial $ 1,787,527 $ 1,701,105
Capital and Large Corporate Tax  575,670 270,000

 2,363,197 1,971,105

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of deductible temporary differences  (157,680) (21,038)
Reduction in tax rate  7,614 (9,816)

 (150,066) (30,854)
Total tax expense $ 2,213,131 $ 1,940,251

2016 2015

Income before income taxes $ 6,058,160 $ 6,114,067
Statutory income tax rate  31.51% 29.43%
Expected income tax  1,908,926 1,799,370

Effect on income tax of:
Non-taxable dividends  (111,534) (50,198)
Permanent tax differences  25,825 27,344
Capital and Large Corporate Tax  397,212 186,300
Future tax rate reduction  (7,614) (1,506)
Other  316 (21,059)

Total income tax expense $ 2,213,131 $ 1,940,251

The provision for income taxes differs from the result which would 

be obtained by applying the combined Canadian Federal and 

Provincial statutory income tax rates to income before taxes. This 

difference results from the following:
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Balance 
December 31, 

2014

Recognized in: Balance 
December 31, 

2015

Recognized in: Balance 
December 31, 

2016
Net Income OCI Net Income OCI

Deferred tax assets
Property and equipment $ 311,325 $ 35,693 $ – $ 347,018 $ 38,110 $ – $ 385,128
Allowance for impaired 
 loans 440,863 (864) – 439,999  139,564 –  579,563
Losses carried forward 148 7 – 155 – –  155
Net donations carried 
 forward 70,790 4,462 – 75,252  (10,332) –  64,920
Net capital losses – 8,601 – 8,601  154 –  8,755
Other 34,588 (17,045) – 17,543  (17,430) –  112

857,714 30,854 – 888,568  150,066 –  1,038,633

The components of the future income tax asset are as follows:

14. Capital requirements

Central manages its capital under guidelines established by the 

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI), which 

require the Central and League Savings to maintain capital ratios 

that are adequate in relation to their levels of business activity. For 

the Central, OSFI prescribes a liabilities to capital borrowing mul-

tiple not to exceed 20 times capital. 

Federal Bill C-43, which came into force in December 2014, includes 

provisions repealing Part XVI of the Cooperative Credit Associations 

Act (CCAA), which permits provincial Centrals to operate with over-

sight from the federal Office of the Superintendent of Financial 

Institutions (OSFI). As a result of this change, provincial govern-

ments will become exclusively responsible for the oversight of 

provincial Centrals. 

The withdrawal of OSFI supervision of provincial credit union cen-

trals came into effect on January 15, 2017. On that date, the Nova 

Scotia Office of the Superintendent of Credit Unions became the 

sole prudential regulator of the Central.

League Savings is subject to guidelines OSFI has issued based on 

standards issued by the Bank for International Settlements, Basel 

Committee of Banking Supervisors (BCBS). OSFI has adopted cap-

ital guidelines based on the standards known as Basel II, which 

became effective for League Savings in 2008. Pillar 1 of the Basel 

II framework defines minimum capital requirements, while Pillar 2 

addresses standards for the management of capital requirements.

Capital requirements are determined based on exposures to 

credit risk, operational risk, and for entities with significant trading 

activity, market risk. The standards provide different methodol-

ogies for the calculation of risk exposures based on a company’s 

relative size and sophistication. League Savings has implemented 

the Standardized Approach for credit risk, and the Basic Indicator 

Approach (BIA) for operational risk. League Savings is not subject 

to the requirements for market risk.

Pillar 2 of the Basel II framework requires that institutions have 

a process in place to make an internal assessment of its over-

all capital position relative to its own unique circumstances and 

risk profile. This process, referred to as ICAAP, is approved by the 

League Savings Board. The company’s internal capital requirements 

have been calculated in accordance with the approved ICAAP. 

In particular, League Savings sets internal capital limits that are 

adjusted based on an annual assessment of the Company’s risk 

profile as identified in an Enterprise Risk Management framework. 

These internal limits provide for capital that is in excess of the 

regulatory minimums.

In December 2012, OSFI issued its revised guideline for Capital 

Adequacy Requirements, effective January 2013, based on 

the Basel II and Basel III framework. Under Basel III, there are 

three primary regulatory capital ratios used to assess capital 

adequacy, Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios, 

which are determined by dividing those capital components by 

risk-weighted assets. 
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Basel III introduced a new category of capital, Common Equity 

Tier 1 (CET1), which consists primarily of common shareholders’ 

equity net of regulatory adjustments. These regulatory adjustments 

include goodwill, intangible assets net of deferred tax liabilities, 

deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability, defined-benefit 

pension fund net assets, shortfall of credit provision to expected 

losses and investments in other financial institutions over certain 

thresholds. 

In addition, new or revised capital components included in com-

mon equity are unrealized losses on securities and reduced 

amounts for non-controlling interests. Transitional requirements 

result in a five-year phase-in of new deductions and additional 

capital components to common equity. 

OSFI’s Basel III capital requirements include rules to implement 

the BCBS guidance on non-viability contingent capital (NVCC). 

The NVCC rules require that all capital instruments include loss 

absorption features. The Subordinate Debentures and Preferred 

Shares issued by League Savings were considered non-qualifying 

capital instruments under the Basel III NVCC rules and were there-

fore subject to a 10% phase-out per year beginning in 2013. These 

instruments were redeemed in 2016 as a part of the capital restruc-

turing plan, and replaced with $19,991,556 in additional common 

shares issued to Atlantic Central (see Note 10).

As of January 2019, under the BCBS rules League Savings will be 

required to meet new minimum requirements of: Common Equity 

Tier 1 ratio of 4.5% plus a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, 

collectively 7%. Including the capital conservation buffer, the 

minimum Tier 1 ratio will be 8.5%, and the Total Capital ratio will 

be 10.5%. 

OSFI required Canadian deposit-taking institutions to fully imple-

ment the 2019 Basel III reforms in 2013, without the transitional 

phase-in provisions for capital deductions (referred to as “all-in”), 

and achieve a minimum 7% common equity target, by the first 

quarter of 2013.

In January 2014, the BCBS released its final paper on “Basel III lever-

age ratio framework and disclosure requirement”, which introduced 

a simpler, non risk-based Leverage ratio requirement to act as a 

supplementary measure to its risk-based capital requirements. 

The Leverage ratio is defined as a ratio of Basel III Tier 1 capital to 

a Leverage exposure measure which includes on-balance sheet 

assets and off-balance sheet commitments, derivatives and secur-

ities financing. 

On October 30, 2014, OSFI issued its final “Leverage Requirements 

(LR) Guideline”, which replaced the existing OSFI assets-to-capital 

multiple (ACM) with the Basel leverage ratio beginning in January 

2015. The regulatory minimum leverage ratio is 3%. Institutions are 

expected to maintain an operating buffer above the 3% minimum. 

The BCBS has published a number of proposals for changes to the 

existing risk-based capital requirements, and continues to do so 

with the objective of clarifying and increasing the capital require-

ments for certain business activities. The BCBS continues to review 

operational risk capital frameworks to provide an optimal balance 

between simplicity, comparability, and risk sensitivity. After further 

consultation with industry participants, BCBS is also considering a 

new standardized approach which would potentially affect current 

methods used to calculate operational risk capital. The Company 

will continue to monitor developments in these areas.

The Company has established internal limits to ensure that it meets 

its regulatory requirements. Capital ratios are monitored regularly 

and reported to the Board quarterly. The Capital Management Plan, 

which forecasts capital requirements and includes contingency 

plans in the event of unanticipated changes, is reviewed by the 

Board annually. 
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Details of the Company’s regulatory capital at December 31 were as follows:

2016 2015
Central:
Maximum borrowing multiple  20 20
Actual borrowing multiple  11.4 12.9

League Savings and Mortgage Company:
Risk-weighted assets for:
Credit risk $ 150,443,000 $ 122,138,000
Operational risk  17,513,000 17,788,000
Total $ 167,956,000 $ 139,926,000

Capital elements:
Common shares $ 22,102,000 $ 2,110,000
Contributed surplus  1,786,000 1,786,000
Unrealized gain on AFS investments  174,000 317,000
Retained earnings  18,880,000 17,417,000

Common Equity Tier 1  42,942,000 21,630,000
Preferred shares – 9,791,000

Total Tier 1  42,942,000 31,421,000
Subordinated debentures – 4,971,000

Tier 2 capital – 4,971,000
Total regulatory capital $ 42,942,000 $ 36,392,000

Ratios:
Common Equity Tier 1 25.57% 15.46%
Total Tier 1 25.57% 22.46%
Total capital 25.57% 26.01%
Leverage Ratio 8.22% 6.72%

OSFI targets(a):
Common Equity Tier 1 7.00% 7.00%
Total Tier 1 8.50% 8.50%
Total capital 10.50% 10.50%
Leverage Ratio 4.00% 4.00%

(a) New OSFI targets, including a new Common Equity Tier 1 target of 7%, were effective January 1, 2013.  
The new Leverage Ratio came into effect on January 1, 2015.

Central’s capital ratios have been in compliance with the regulatory requirements throughout the year.
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2016 2015 

Short-term employee benefits $ 1,096,471 $ 1,080,822
Contributions to a group savings  
 for retirement program  70,376 68,280
Variable compensation  171,620 191,357
Mortgage balances due  
 from key management  186,119 217,497
Deposit balances due  
 to key management  556,226 423,842

15. Related party transactions

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having the author-

ity and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 

activities of the Company, and include members of the Board of 

Directors, the President and CEO, and other senior officers of the 

Company. 

The President and CEO, and each of the four other senior officers of 

the Central earned variable compensation during the year. Central’s 

Total Compensation Program does not include guaranteed 

bonuses or deferred compensation payments. Variable compen-

sation is earned during the year and paid in cash in the following 

year. 

The components of total compensation received by key manage-

ment personnel, and balances due to/from key management 

personnel are as follows:

Short-term employee benefits include salaries, director remuner-

ation and other benefits. The mortgage and deposit transactions 

were made in the ordinary course of business and on substantially 

the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for compar-

able transactions with persons of a similar standing or, where 

applicable, with other employees. The transactions did not involve 

more than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavour-

able features.

Associates

During the normal course of operations Central and the subsidi-

ary, League Savings, transact business with League Data Limited, 

a related company by virtue of common ownership. These trans-

actions are measured at the exchange amount and are as follows:

2016 2015

Income and fees related to the 
 management contract $ 63,000 $ 60,000
Rental and other income  108,000 108,000
Services and equipment purchases 
 from League Data Limited  562,579 508,856
Deposits held by Central  9,835,041 6,531,072
Amount receivable from (payable to) 
 League Data Limited  (48,526) (3,587)
Deferred funding for regional 
 marketing program 100,000 100,000

16. Credit facilities

Central has established an operating line of credit of $35,000,000 

with Central 1. The line of credit bears interest at the institution’s 

prime lending rate. As security, Central has provided an assignment 

of marketable securities having a carrying value of $35,000,000. At 

December 31, 2016 and 2015 there were no amounts outstanding 

on this facility. 

Central has also established an additional $100,000,000 disruption 

event credit facility with Central 1, secured by a general assignment 

of assets, bearing interest at the greater of Central 1’s cost of funds 

plus 0.75 basis points, or 1-month CDOR plus 0.75 basis points. The 

facility provides liquidity and working capital in a disruption event 

that impacts Central’s ability to function in the ordinary course of 

business to provide liquidity to its member credit unions.

League Savings has also established a line of credit with Central 1 

secured by an assignment of insured residential mortgages, 

bearing interest at prime, up to an amount of $25,000,000. At 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, there were no amounts outstanding 

on this facility. 
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2016 2015

Mortgages under administration $ 108,262,414 $ 104,299,504
Syndicated loans  86,632,261 71,883,405

Included in non–residential  100,407 131,091

Maturity 
Date

Earliest 
Redemption 2016 2015

Series B December 
31, 2024

December 
31, 2009

– $ 6,381,000

2016 2015
Banking services fees $ 5,135,498 $ 5,941,602
Banking services expenses  (2,890,114)  (3,910,891)
Securitization – gains on sales  1,613,001  525,877
Lending services fees  1,810,616  1,890,853
Lending services expenses  (2,066,797)  (1,406,868)
Investment services fees  33,511  41,825
Investment services expenses  (518,040)  (521,000)
Member assessments  6,366,078  6,172,809
Management fees  63,000  60,000
Fee for service  771,169  724,410
Rentals  136,316  136,316
Other  465,889  352,797

$ 10,920,127 $ 10,007,730

2016 2015

Current accounts $ 47,546,842 $ 57,354,273
Cash management  150,744,833 169,910,384
Segregated liquidity  313,436,947 298,496,874
Registered  7,808,988 8,078,985
Other demand  9,005,963 8,124,730
Total demand deposits  528,543,573 541,965,246
Registered  147,190,528 155,269,073
Other term  275,197,508 298,403,392
Total term deposits  422,388,036 453,672,465

$ 950,931,609 $ 995,637,711

17. Deposits

18. Assets under administration

a) Mortgages under administration

Assets under administration include mortgages under administra-

tion, which are not the property of Central and are not reflected in 

the balance sheet.

b) Syndicated loans

Central provides a loan syndication program for credit unions. 

These loans, which are under the Central’s administration, are not 

the property of the Central and are not reflected on the balance 

sheet. Although most of the loan syndications are purchased by 

credit unions, Central can be a participant if a loan is not fully sub-

scribed to by credit unions. 

When Central participates in the loan syndication, the amount is 

included in loans and mortgages on the balance sheet as “non-resi-

dential.” Where a fully subscribed loan syndication has not been 

distributed to credit unions, the undistributed amount is also 

included in loans and mortgages as “non-residential.”

Assets under administration at December 31 were as follows:

19. Subordinated debentures

Subordinated debentures were issued by League Savings. Series B 

debentures were unsecured and subordinated to all other indebt-

edness of the Company. The minimum interest rate was equal 

to 1.5 times the dividend rate on the Preferred A shares. Series B 

debentures are convertible into Preferred A shares at the option of 

the holder and redeemable at the option of the Company, subject 

to the approval of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 

Institutions.

During the year all of the subordinated debentures were redeemed 

for cash. See Note 10 for a description of the Company’s capital 

restructure plan, which was completed in 2016.

20. Non-interest income

Non-interest income includes the following:

The expenses detailed above include direct expenses only. Salary 

and staff related costs, and other indirect costs required to provide 

these services, are reported in operating expenses.
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21. Non-controlling interest

The non-controlling interest represented the Preferred A shares 

of League Savings and Mortgage Company. See Note 10 for a 

description of the Company’s capital restructure plan, which was 

completed in 2016.

22. Compensation

Compensation is a key factor in recruiting, retaining, motivating 

and rewarding a talented and committed workforce. Pay determin-

ation policies and guidelines emphasize continued development of 

knowledge, expansion of skills, performance and the ability to be 

flexible and adaptable to change. 

The goals of our Total Compensation Program are to provide levels 

of compensation that are internally equitable, externally competi-

tive, financially feasible, and that will enable Central to attract, 

retain and reward highly qualified individuals. Total Compensation 

includes base pay, variable pay (which must be re-earned each 

year) and employee benefits.

The Executive/HR Committee of the Board is responsible for:

• Establishing an annual performance plan with specific object-

ives and monitoring and conducting annual performance 

evaluations of the President and CEO against these objectives.

• Determining and recommending to the Board an appropriate 

total compensation package (including variable compensation) 

for the President and CEO. 

• Reviewing annually the terms and conditions of the variable 

compensation plan for employees and recommending adoption 

by the Board.

The Board has delegated to the President and CEO the responsibil-

ity for the implementation and administration of all management 

or executive policies, including the Total Compensation Program 

for employees. The variable compensation program is governed by 

the Performance Sharing Incentive Plan, which is based on the fol-

lowing principles:

• The President and CEO will have the ultimate discretion to 

determine whether payment occurs and what the payment 

will be for the year based on the annual performance of the 

Company. 

• Performance is evaluated based on financial, customer service, 

and balanced scorecard results.

• The plan is self-funded – if Central does not achieve the desig-

nated level of financial performance there will be no payout 

under the plan.

• Individual performance will determine participation in, and 

individual payments under the plan. Individual performance is 

measured against annual individual performance plans.

Compensation to members of the Board of Directors is limited to 

an annual honorarium. Directors do not participate in any variable 

compensation programs. Compensation paid to Directors and key 

management personnel are detailed in Note 15 – related party 

transactions.

23. Special projects

Included in special projects are the costs of various initiatives 

relating to transformational change within the Central and the 

credit union system. In 2016 total spending on special projects was 

$856,609 (2015 – $699,199).
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S
ound governance and ethical behaviour 
begins with our Board of Directors, 
which is accountable to our shareholder 
members and assumes responsibility 
for the stewardship of Atlantic Central 

(Central). The Board of Directors is responsible 
for overseeing the management of the business 
and affairs of Central, and for providing effect-
ive leadership to Central and the credit union 
system, with an objective of enhancing stake-
holder value. Among its many specific duties, 
the Board of Directors: approves strategic goals 
and business plans; sets policy to direct the 
overall operations of Central; provides advice, 
counsel, and oversight to the President and 
CEO; oversees the ethical, legal, and social 
conduct of Central; oversees the risk manage-
ment of Central; and reviews Central’s ongoing 
financial performance. The Board of Directors 
ensures that appropriate structures and proced-
ures are in place to maintain its independence 
from management.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of Directors of Central consists of 
12 Directors:
• Two Directors elected at-large by delegates 

representing Central’s member credit unions 
within the New Brunswick Regional Group;

• Two Directors elected at-large by delegates 
representing Central’s member credit unions 
within the Newfoundland and Labrador 
Regional Group;

• Six Directors elected by delegates repre-
senting Central’s member credit unions 
within the Nova Scotia Regional Group, as 
follows:

• One Director elected by delegates 
representing Central’s member credit 
unions within NS Peer Group 1 (credit 
unions with total assets under $30 
million);

• Two Directors elected by delegates 
representing Central’s member credit 
unions within NS Peer Group 2 (credit 
unions with total assets between $30 
million and $100 million); and

• Three Directors elected by delegates 
representing Central’s member credit 
unions within NS Peer Group 3 
(credit unions with total assets over 
$100 million); and

• Two Directors elected at-large by dele-
gates representing Central’s member 
credit unions within the Prince Edward 
Island Regional Group.

CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE
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The following individuals currently serve on the 
Board of Directors:
• Pat Duffield, Chair
• Raymond Surette, First Vice-Chair
• Michael MacIsaac, Second Vice-Chair
• Bernard Keefe
• Marc LeClair
• Jim MacFarlane
• Camille Maillet
• Paul Newman
• Gary O’Brien
• Kurt Peacock
• Willy Robinson
• William Timmons

The Board and each committee meets at least 
once each fiscal quarter and holds an annual 
strategic planning session. The Board meets at 
other times when matters requiring its approval 
or consideration are raised and it is not possible 
or prudent to wait for the next regularly sched-
uled meeting. The Board of Directors met seven 
times in 2016.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board has established the following stand-
ing committees: Audit, Risk, Conduct Review; 
Co-operative Social Responsibility; Executive/
Human Resources; and Governance.

Audit, Risk, and Conduct Review Committees
The committees shall consist of at least four 
Directors, none of whom is an employee 
or officer of Central or League Savings and 
Mortgage (League Savings). The Audit 
Committee is responsible for ensuring that 
management has designed and implemented 
an effective system of financial management 
and related internal controls. It reviews and 
reports on the audited financial statements and 
ensures compliance with certain regulatory and 
statutory requirements. It is also responsible for 
meeting periodically with internal and external 

auditors. The Risk Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that management has developed 
and maintained an effective Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework for evaluating the 
business strategies being used for the alloca-
tion of human, capital, and other resources. 
The Conduct Review Committee is 
responsible for ensuring that Central 
has developed and adheres to ethical 
standards and sound business conduct 
in such areas as conflict of interest and 
related party procedures.

Co-operative Social Responsibility Committee
The (Joint) Central and League Savings 
Co-operative Social Responsibility (CSR) 
Committee is comprised of at least one Director 
from each of Central and League Savings and 
representation from each of the Atlantic prov-
inces. The CSR Committee shall develop and 
support clear and precise policy statements 
for consideration by the Board that help 
define our belief in social well-being and 
sustainability. The committee shall rec-
ommend priorities for charitable giving 
and awards and recognition programs to 
the Board, and provide related oversight to 
these priorities and programs. In addition, 
the committee shall ensure sustainability and 
environmental impacts are considered in the 
management of premises and operations.

Executive/Human Resources Committee
The six members include the Board Chair, First 
Vice-Chair, Second Vice-Chair, and three 
members at-large elected by the Board as 
a whole, one of whom shall concurrently 
be a member of the Board of Central’s 
subsidiary, League Savings, serving as 
an appointee of Central. This commit-
tee is responsible for addressing matters 
between scheduled Board meetings that 
require immediate attention, and acts as a 
Human Resources Committee. In this capacity, 
the committee makes recommendations to the 
Board on the President and CEO’s compensa-
tion and performance evaluation.

COMMITTEES’  
MEMBERS

Willy Robinson (Chair), 
Marc LeClair,  

Camille Maillet, 
and Paul Newman 

(JOINT)  
COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS

Gary O’Brien (Chair), 
Bernard Keefe, Sarah 
Millar, Kurt Peacock, 
Willy Robinson, and 

William Timmons

COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS

Pat Duffield (Chair), 
Marc LeClair, 

Jim MacFarlane, 
Michael MacIsaac, 

Willy Robinson, and 
Raymond Surette 
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Governance Committee
The committee shall consist of at least four 
Directors and is responsible for reviewing and 
recommending changes, as appropriate, to 
the governance structure of Central, and for 
ensuring that an effective governance system 
is in place, including a schedule for regular 
policy review and compliance. In addition, 

this committee ensures Board decisions and 
positions are appropriately translated into 

documented policies. The committee 
oversees the procedures for nominating 

and electing Central Directors to ensure 
compliance with Central’s by-laws and 

resolves any issues or questions related to 
this process. The committee is responsible for 
overseeing the Director evaluation process, and 
for establishing and monitoring the orientation 
program for new Directors, as well as the mon-
itoring of ongoing training and development of 
Board members.

MANDATE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

While the Board’s fundamental responsibility is 
to oversee the management of the business and 
affairs of Central, any responsibility that is not 
specifically delegated to the President and CEO 
remains with the Board. In particular, the Board 
oversees Central’s strategic direction to ensure 

COMMITTEE  
MEMBERS

Raymond Surette 
(Chair), Jim MacFarlane, 

Michael MacIsaac, 
Kurt Peacock, and 
William Timmons

it serves the organization, its member credit 
unions and employees, and communities in 
New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, 
Nova Scotia, and Prince Edward Island. The 
Board assumes overall stewardship with respect 
to Central’s mission and values, its long-term 
objectives, and the approval of corporate 
strategies. Specifically, the Board is responsible 
for the:
• selection, succession, evaluation, compen-

sation, and employment conditions of the 
President and CEO;

• establishment and approval of Board policies;
• oversight of Central’s internal control 

framework;
• development and approval of strategic goals 

and business plans for Central;
• provision of advice to the President and 

CEO;
• evaluation of the Board’s performance and 

oversight of the ethical, legal, and social con-
duct of the organization; and

• review of the financial performance and con-
dition of the organization.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD  
AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board of Directors recognizes the import-
ance of each individual Director’s participation 
at Board and committee meetings. Every 
Director is expected to attend all Board and 
committee meetings unless adequate cause 
is given for missing a meeting. The following 
table sets out the attendance of each Board 
member at Board and committee meetings 
throughout 2016.
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Pat Duffield, Chair

Camille Maillet

Bernard Keefe

Kurt Peacock

Raymond Surette,  
First Vice-Chair

Paul Newman

Marc LeClair

Willy Robinson

Michael MacIsaac, 
Second Vice-Chair

Gary O’BrienJim MacFarlane

William Timmons

Name

Board  
and Planning  

Session

Audit, Risk  
& Conduct 

Review 
Committees

Co-operative 
Social

Responsibility 
Committee

Executive/HR
Committee

Governance
Committee

Pat Duffield* 7/7 7/7

Raymond Surette* 7/7 7/7 4/4

Michael MacIsaac* 7/7 7/7 4/4

Bernard Keefe 7/7 3/5

Marc LeClair 6/7 4/4 6/7

Jim MacFarlane 7/7 7/7 5/5

Camille Maillet 5/5 3/3

Paul Newman 7/7 3/3

Gary O’Brien 7/7 5/5

Kurt Peacock 7/7 3/3 2/5

Willy Robinson 7/7 3/4 3/4

William Timmons 7/7 5/5 5/5

* Table Officer
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BOARD EVALUATIONS

As part of its commitment to ongoing 
development and improvement, the Board of 
Directors conducts an annual self-evaluation. 
This evaluates the Board’s effectiveness in the 
following governance areas: Central’s mission 
and vision; strategic leadership; financial 
performance; internal controls and oversight, 
including financial oversight, risk oversight, and 
human resources oversight; co-operative social 
responsibility; compliance and accountability; 
stakeholder relations; Board functioning and 
Board and management relations; and learning 
and development. The results of the evaluation 
are used to guide the training and development 
agenda for the Board in the upcoming year.

EVOLVING GOVERNANCE PROCESSES

At Central, we recognize that our governance 
standards must evolve to respond to changes 
in our organization, the credit union system, 
stakeholder expectations and regulatory 
requirements, and to ensure that Central and 
its stakeholders receive the benefit of excep-
tional governance practices. The Board and 
management continually monitor developments 
in corporate governance practices and are com-
mitted to ongoing training and development to 
ensure that Central continues to lead the credit 
union system with its governance practices.

AFFILIATE AND REGULATORY BOARDS

Canadian Credit Union Association (CCUA)
Central is a Class B member of CCUA and is 
entitled to appoint one Director to the CCUA 
Board (the five Class B members consist of five 
Centrals). Michael Leonard serves on the Board 
of CCUA as a Director from Central (term 
expires in 2018).

Concentra Financial
The Atlantic provinces fall under the minority 
shareholders category; these consist of Central, 
Central 1, and La Federation des Caisses 
Populaires du Manitoba. The minority share-
holders are entitled to elect one Director to 
Concentra’s Board. This position is not currently 
filled by a nominee from Central.

Co-operative Enterprise Council  
of New Brunswick (CECNB)
Central has a share in CECNB; Kurt Peacock is 
the Central Director currently serving on the 
CECNB Board (term expires in 2019).

Co-operative Management Education 
Co-operative (CMEC)
Central holds shares in CMEC. The CMEC 
Board includes co-op/credit union nominated 
positions. The Central representative on the 
Board is Paul Paruch (term expires in 2017).

League Data Limited
The President and CEO of Central has a dedi-
cated seat on the Board of League Data Limited. 
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League Savings and Mortgage Company  
(League Savings)
Central is entitled to appoint six members to 
the Board of its subsidiary, League Savings. 
Currently, the Directors appointed by Central 
to the Board of League Savings are Pat Duffield, 
Jim MacFarlane, Michael MacIsaac, Paul 
Newman, Gary O’Brien, and Willy Robinson. 

Nova Scotia Co-operative Council
Central appoints a Director to the Nova Scotia 
Co-operative Council Board. Raymond Surette 
is the Central Director serving on the Nova 
Scotia Co-operative Council Board (term 
expires 2017).

Nova Scotia Credit Union Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (NS CUDIC)
Three of the seven positions on the NS CUDIC 
Board are nominated by Central, and appoint-
ments are subject to the Minister of Finance 
and Treasury Board’s approval. The current 
Central-appointed Directors on the NS CUDIC 
Board are Marion Garlick, John Armstrong, and 
Gerard MacKinnon (terms for all three expire 
in 2017).

Northwest & Ethical Investments Inc. (NEI)
Central owns one common voting share of NEI. 
Central is entitled to elect one Director to the 
Board. The current Director for the Atlantic 
provinces is Bernie O’Neil (term expires 2018).

Prince Edward Island Co-operative Council
Central has a designated seat on the Board of 
the Prince Edward Island Co-operative Council 
and the Director serves at the pleasure of 
Central. The Central appointee is Marc LeClair 
(term expires 2018).

Risk Management Agency (RMA)
Central appoints two Directors to the New 
Brunswick RMA Board. The current Central-
appointed Directors are Robert Boyle (term 
expires in 2019) and William Hanson (term 
expires in 2017).

The Co-operators
Central appoints two delegates, currently Kurt 
Peacock and Willy Robinson. The Atlantic 
regional delegates elect three Directors to The 
Co-operators’ Board to represent the Atlantic 
region. In December 2016, Central reappointed 
Michael MacIsaac (effective April 2017) to serve 
as Director (term expires 2020).



Newfoundland
and Labrador

Prince Edward
Island

Nova Scotia

New Brunswick

NEW BRUNSWICK
Advance Savings Credit 

Union
Bayview Credit Union
Beaubear Credit Union
Blackville Credit Union
Church River Credit Union
Citizens Credit Union
NBTA Credit Union
OMISTA Credit Union
Progressive Credit Union
The Credit Union

ATLANTIC CANADIAN FAMILIES AND BUSINESSES ARE WELL SERVED BY 
THE 50 MEMBER CREDIT UNIONS, WITH 137 LOCATIONS IN OUR SYSTEM

NOVA SCOTIA
Acadian Credit Union
Bay St. Lawrence Credit 

Union
Caisse populaire de Clare
Coady Credit Union
Coastal Financial Credit 

Union
Community Credit Union  

of Cumberland Colchester
CUA
Dominion Credit Union
East Coast Credit Union
Electragas Credit Union
Glace Bay Central Credit 

Union
iNova Credit Union
LaHave River Credit Union
New Ross Credit Union
New Waterford Credit Union
North Sydney Credit Union
Princess Credit Union
Provincial Government 

Employees Credit Union
Public Service Commission 

Employees Credit Union
St. Joseph’s Credit Union
Steel Centre Credit Union
Sydney Credit Union
Teachers Plus Credit Union
Valley Credit Union
Victory Credit Union

PRINCE EDWARD 
ISLAND
Consolidated Credit Union
Évangéline–Central Credit 

Union
Malpeque Bay Credit Union
Morell Credit Union
Provincial Credit Union
Souris Credit Union
Tignish Credit Union

NEWFOUNDLAND  
AND LABRADOR
Community Credit Union
Eagle River Credit Union
EasternEdge Credit Union
Hamilton Sound Credit Union
Leading Edge Credit Union
Public Service Credit Union
Reddy Kilowatt Credit Union
Venture Credit Union
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New Brunswick

Our Vision
To be an innovative leader contributing to a strong and effective network of credit 

unions.

Our Mission
Through our leadership and the excellence of our people, products and services, 

we support credit unions in becoming the financial institution of choice.

Our Values
Stewardship

We accept the roles of support and leadership defined for us by the credit unions 

of Atlantic Canada and, with them, support the well-being of the credit union net-

work and the communities it serves. We will operate in a socially responsible and 

profitable manner for the common good of our stakeholders.

Service

We are committed to providing professional service to our stakeholders, who 

include credit unions and their employees, to our affiliates and their employees, 

and to each other.

Respect

We will conduct ourselves respectfully – respectful of diversity, respectful of 

ourselves and respectful of others in order to build and sustain a productive 

workplace.

Accountability

We choose to be accountable for our actions and the results we deliver to our 

stakeholders. We share responsibility for the well-being and success of Atlantic 

Central and the credit unions it serves. 

Continuous Growth and Development

We commit to continually strengthening our organization and services. We will 

initiate learning and improve personally, departmentally and corporately to 

enhance our contributions for the well-being of our stakeholders and the com-

munities we serve.



Serving credit unions in:

New Brunswick
Newfoundland and Labrador
Nova Scotia
Prince Edward Island

www.atlanticcreditunions.ca


